Eastern Kentucky University

Encompass

Honors Theses

Student Scholarship

Spring 5-3-2021

What's in an ACE: The Role of ACE2 in COVID-19's Tissue Damaging Effects

Christian White Eastern Kentucky University, christian_white128@mymail.eku.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://encompass.eku.edu/honors_theses

Recommended Citation

White, Christian, "What's in an ACE: The Role of ACE2 in COVID-19's Tissue Damaging Effects" (2021). *Honors Theses*. 807. https://encompass.eku.edu/honors_theses/807

This Open Access Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Scholarship at Encompass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Honors Theses by an authorized administrator of Encompass. For more information, please contact Linda.Sizemore@eku.edu.

Eastern Kentucky University

What's in an ACE: The Role of ACE2 in COVID-19's Tissue Damaging Effects

Honors Thesis

Submitted

in Partial Fulfillment

of the

Requirements of HON 420

Spring 2021

By

Christian White

Faculty Mentor

Dr. Oliver Oakley

Department of Biological Sciences

What's in an ACE: The Role of ACE2 in COVID-19's Tissue Damaging Effects

Christian White

Dr. Oliver Oakley, Department of Biological Sciences

Coronavirus disease of 2019 (COVID-19) is the disease state caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), the virus responsible for the current pandemic. SARS-CoV-2 infects cells via the membrane bound form of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2). Aside from its role in viral entry, the role of ACE2 in the morbidity and mortality of severe COVID-19 is often overlooked. ACE2 functions as a member of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS) by cleaving the angiotensin II into angiotensin (1-7). Angiotensin II increases inflammation, thrombosis, and inflammation, whereas angiotensin (1-7) decreases these phenomena, making ACE2 an important balancing agent. ACE2 is downregulated in severe COVID-19 by both viral entry, which internalizes it, and the increased activity of "a disintegrin and metalloprotease 17" (ADAM17), which cleaves it off the membrane, delocalizing it. A meta-analysis was performed to demonstrate the striking resemblance between ACE2 downregulation and severe COVID-19. Sources were examined according to organ, type of ACE2 downregulation, and symptom. The downregulation of ACE2 exhibits similar symptoms in each organ for each pathology. RAS-based treatments of severe COVID-19 attempt to counter the downregulation of ACE2 prevalent in the disease. The most promising is human recombinant soluble ACE2 (hrsACE2; APN01), which both blocks viral entry and increases the functional ACE2 in the body. It is hoped that this study elucidates what is known and highlights understudied aspects of ACE2 and its role in COVID-19.

keywords and phrases: coronavirus-disease of 2019, angiotensin converting enzyme 2, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2, inflammation, fibrosis, thrombosis, ACE2 downregulation

Table of Contents

- i. Title Page
- ii. Abstract
- iv. Table of Contents
- v. List of Figures
- vii. List of Tables
- viii. Acknowledgements
- 1. Introduction
- 7. SARS-CoV-2
- 16. Renin Angiotensin System
- 21. ACE2 Downregulation
- 25. Inflammation
- 32. Coagulopathy
- 38. Fibrosis
- 45. RAS-Based COVID-19 Treatments
- 50. Conclusion
- 51. Bibliography

List of Figures

Figure 1: SARS-CoV-2 structural diagram. Page 9

Figure 2: SARS-CoV-2 particles isolated from a patient, viewed with transition electron microscopy. Page 11

Figure 3: SARS-CoV-2 entry occurs by either endocytosis or direct fusion. Page 14

Figure 4: The dual pathway model of the RAS. Page 17

Figure 5: NF-KB expression in immune cells causes inflammation. Page 26

Figure 6: Inflammation of the lungs in severe COVID-19. Page 27

Figure 7: Lungs from a patient who died of COVID-19. Page 28

Figure 8: Autopsy of a severe COVID-19 patient reveals necrosis and neutrophil infiltration in the tubules of the kidney. Page 29

Figure 9: PubMed results for "ACE2 Inflammation" by year. Page 30

- Figure 10: The coagulation cascade. Page 33
- Figure 11: Inflammation with microthrombi in the lung tissue of a patient who died of severe COVID-19. Page 34
- Figure 12: Autopsy of a severe COVID-19 patient reveals capillary congestion and a large thrombus in the glomerulus of a kidney. Page 35

Figure 13: PubMed results for "ACE2 Thrombosis" by year. Page 36

Figure 14: Contributing factors to fibrosis and examples of organs that it can manifest in. Page 39

Figure 15: Diagram of normal lung tissue vs. pulmonary fibrosis. Page 40

- Figure 16: Chest X-ray of a patient's development of pulmonary fibrosis during severe COVID-19. Page 41
- Figure 17: Renal fibrosis in mice with diabetic kidney injury with and without the gene for ACE2. Page 42

Figure 18: PubMed results for "ACE2 Fibrosis" by year. Page 43

List of Tables

- **Table 1**: Proposed mechanisms of ACE2 downregulation in severe COVID-19.
 Page 22
- **Table 2**: Meta-analysis data on the increase in inflammation reported for ACE2 knockoutmodels, low ACE2 presence in tissues, and COVID-19.Page 30
- **Table 3**: Meta-analysis data on the increase in thrombosis reported for ACE2 knockoutmodels, low ACE2 presence in tissues, and COVID-19.Page 36
- **Table 4**: Meta-analysis data on the increase in fibrosis reported for ACE2 knockoutmodels, low ACE2 presence in tissues, and COVID-19.Page 43
- **Table 5**: Proposed and developing RAS-based treatments for severe COVID-19.

Page 45

Table 6: Meta-analysis data on the reduction of inflammation, thrombosis, and fibrosisby ACE2 treatment by organ.Page 48

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my wonderful mentor Dr. Oliver Oakley of the Department of Biological Sciences. Without his continual guidance, support, and insights, this project would have been impossible. He devoted many hours to reading over my work, meeting and discussing the project, and patiently working with me. His love of the trade and unending congeniality has made him a pleasure to work with.

I would also like to thank Dr. David Coleman, Executive Director of the Honors Program, for his guidance throughout the development of this project. He introduced me to the concept of meta-analyses, which greatly shaped this project. He has also been a great person to work with.

I would also like to thank Dr. Buchang Shi, who helped me come up with the project idea by introducing me to the concept of blocking the viral spike protein. I am thankful that I got to perform chemistry research under him before the pandemic.

I would lastly like to thank my two departments for their continual support of me despite my unorthodox tracks through each. The Department of Biological Sciences accepted me immediately when I switched into it and was supportive of all my choices, teaching me many things in and out of the classroom. The Honors Program also greatly supported me through this journey as well as helping me to study abroad and become a better critical thinker.

I am very fortunate and thankful to have been given this opportunity and I will not forget it.

Christian

Introduction

History praises the military prowess of human conquerors, such as Alexander the Great and Genghis Khan. However, disease has proven to be the most successful conqueror of humankind. The dawn of civilization saw people group together in densely populated communities, which made them much more vulnerable to infectious disease.¹ Several of the most notable intersocietal achievements, including trade routes, wars, and colonization, greatly enhanced the spread of diseases, and in return diseases greatly shaped human populations and behavior.^{2,3} Cleaner living conditions were found to decrease the transmission of disease, leading such progressions as organized sewer systems, clean water sources, better sanitation availability, and the stigmatization and measures against rodents.^{4,5} Quarantine, the isolation of individuals until they prove healthy, has been widely used during pandemics and occasionally during immigration to limit disease spread.⁴ Although society has learned many ways to mitigate the risk of disease, pathogens occasionally bypass them and spread within and/or between human populations.

There are many categories of pathogens, including bacteria, viruses, fungi, protozoa, parasites, prions, and viroids. Of these, bacteria and viruses have caused the most detrimental pandemics in history.² In recent years, antibiotic drugs have become widely available across the world, especially in developed nations.⁶ These drugs have greatly reduced the severity of most bacterial diseases, reduced the likelihood of bacterial pandemics, and raised life expectancy in developed nations.^{3,6} The main downside of antibiotic use is that it selects for bacterial strains that develop antibiotic resistance mechanisms. Some of these strains have spread across the world, gaining notoriety in the medical community.^{3,6,7} For example, methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) is a well-known strain that survives treatment with the antibiotic methicillin; it most commonly infects hospital patients, and some strains of MRSA are also resistant to other antibiotics.^{8,9} MRSA is just one of the growing set of "superbugs" that exhibit multi-drug resistance (MDR).⁹ However, these antibiotic-resistant bacterial superbugs typically only pose a danger to hospitalized and immunocompromised individuals.³ Besides these antibiotic resistant bacterial strains, most modern global pandemics are viral, largely due to the lack of broad-spectrum antiviral drugs; antibiotics don't affect viruses, and antiviral drugs typically have too high of a specificity to be useful against multiple viruses.^{3,10–12}

Viruses are tiny infectious particles consisting of a protein capsid that surrounds genetic material. With such a simplistic structure, viruses are windows into the very origins of life.¹³ Viruses require outside machinery and materials to proliferate.¹⁴ Cellular hosts fulfill this need, providing the ribosomes that will make viral proteins, the amino acids that will form these proteins, and nucleotides to replicate the viral genome.¹⁵ Almost every cellular organism, whether prokaryote or eukaryote, has viruses that specifically target it by exploiting unique cellular proteins and incorporating them as an essential part of the viral life cycle.¹⁵ For bacteriophages, sometimes shortened to phages, the hosts are bacteria; phages are model organisms for viruses and are the most abundant organisms on the planet; they inject their genomes into bacteria from the outside in an attempt to replicate by hijacking the bacteria's resources.¹⁶ Another group of viruses called virophages can infect other viruses, depending on both their helper-virus and its

cellular host to complete their reproductive cycle.¹⁴ Regardless of the host, viruses utilize cellular machinery to multiply at much higher rates than any cells.³ The high-speed viral replication can contribute to carcinogenesis, the formation of cancer.¹⁷

Several reproduction strategies exist for viruses, depending on the type of genetic material the virus uses: RNA or DNA, how many strands of genetic material it has: single- or double-stranded, and whether it contains genetic exons directly encoding viral proteins or requires a complementary strand: positive- or negative-sense, respectively.¹³ In general, viruses utilize two reproduction cycles, each having different consequences for the host. In the lytic cycle, a virus infects a cell, reproduces in large enough numbers to burst or lyse the host cell, then the new viruses search for a new host cell, leaving the dead host cell behind.¹⁸ In the lysogenic cycle, a virus infects a cell and integrates its genome into that of the host, leading to the production of more viruses.¹⁸ The lysogenic cycle does not immediately kill the host cell, and can even provide it with evolutionary advantages via "moron genes."^{18,19} These beneficial genes often protect the host from infection by other viruses, adding a symbiotic element to the virus-host relationship.¹⁹

All viruses, regardless of their reproductive strategies, must generate mRNA from which the host cell ribosomes can create new viral proteins.¹³ All viruses copy their genomes using host cell resources and encapsidate the produced genomes within the protein capsids produced.¹³ DNA viruses use the host cell transcription enzymes to create mRNA, and some are capable of being incorporated into the host cell genome.¹³ RNA viruses either use RNA-dependent RNA-polymerase to both copy their genomes and make enough mRNA to hijack most of the host cell ribosomes, or use reverse transcriptase to make complementary DNA that is integrated into the host genome to be

transcribed into mRNA; the latter RNA viruses are called retroviruses.^{13,15} Endogenization, the integration of viral genes into host genome, is a process that all viruses of eukaryotes have potential for; retroviruses such as HIV utilize endogenization as an essential part of their lifecycle.¹⁵

Due to endogenization and the incorporation of foreign DNA into their hosts, viruses have shaped the genomes of modern species.^{15,20} At least 8% of the human genome can be traced to retroviruses.²⁰ Viruses can trade genes among themselves and with their hosts in the process of horizontal gene transfer; they can also infect cells that aren't their optimal host in the process of zoonosis.¹⁵ These two processes, combined with rapid reproduction, make the creation of new viruses not only possible but expectable.

In general, RNA viruses are more likely to cause pandemics than DNA viruses because they mutate more quickly, which results in higher variant quantity and the potential for higher fitness.³ With complex modern trade and travel routes, the lack of broad-spectrum antiviral drugs, the high rates of proliferation and mutation in viruses, and the possibility of zoonosis, cross-species viral transmission due to the close proximity of humans to animals, the modern world is particularly vulnerable to viral pandemics. An RNA virus that recently evolved successfully exploited this vulnerability.

In December of 2019, a new sickness causing respiratory symptoms emerged in people residing near an animal market in Wuhan, China.²¹ The virus responsible for the pandemic is named severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), while the disease state it causes is termed coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).²² The number of COVID-19 cases grew exponentially, and the virus proved to spread more

quickly than influenza.^{21,22} In a matter of months, COVID-19 became an global pandemic.²¹ There have been 153,505,262 reported cases of COVID-19 in 219 countries (May 3, 2021).²³ 3,216,599 of these cases resulted in death (May 3, 2021).²³

The virus spreads through the air in aqueous aerosols and droplets, which can originate from the coughs and breathing of infected individuals, whether they are symptomatic or not.^{24,25} Knowledge that SARS-CoV-2 spreads through the air has led to the widespread use of protective masks, which decrease the intake and output of the virus during breathing.²⁵ Sanitation of surfaces can neutralize virus particles and also help limit transmission.²⁵ Another preventative measure involves testing sick people and travelers for the disease.^{26,27} Quarantining those who test positive limits the amount of people they can transmit the disease to, and in certain cases quarantining entire populations is necessary to halt the spread.²⁷

Symptoms of COVID-19 vary from person to person, but there are some well documented patterns, with 3 standing out: mild, severe, and asymptomatic.²⁴ Most reported cases of COVID-19 are mild, though still unpleasant.²⁸ In the first few days of COVID-19, there are little to no symptoms.²⁴ After an incubation period of 4-5 days, symptoms may appear.²⁴ Symptom experience varies between cases; common symptoms include, but are not limited to, fever, cough, headache, fatigue, anosmia: loss of smell, sore throat, myalgia: muscle soreness, seemingly chilblained red/purple "COVID toes," and gastrointestinal symptoms such as nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea.^{21,24,29} People with certain pre-existing conditions, such as type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease (CVD), chronic respiratory disease, and cancer, tend to have worse outcomes with COVID-19.³⁰ More severe symptoms may begin to appear at an average of 5 to 8 days after initial

symptoms, typically beginning with breathlessness, then ranging from respiratory problems such as severe pneumonia, acute lung injury, and acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) to other problems, such as kidney damage, heart problems, and multi-organ failure.^{24,30} For severe COVID-19 cases, hospitalization is necessary. Treatments include oxygen masks and, in more life-threatening cases, mechanical ventilators.³⁰ Though many COVID-19 symptoms and nuances seem unrelated to each other from a macroscopic level, they make much more sense by looking more closely how SARS-CoV-2 interacts with its host.

SARS-CoV-2 enters cells through the membrane-bound form of an enzyme called angiotensin-converting-enzyme 2 (ACE2), which is internalized during viral entry.³¹ Cells infected by SARS-CoV-2 lose functionality, leading to many of the minor symptoms of COVID-19, such as anosmia.³² The relationship of SARS-CoV-2 and ACE2 goes beyond a simple virus-receptor interaction.³³ Extensive infection by SARS-CoV-2, as seen in severe cases of COVID-19 where the viral infection and/or immune response occur at dangerous levels, reduces the amount of ACE2 in areas with a high viral presence, having major consequences.³³ ACE2 has anti-inflammatory, anti-fibrotic, and anti-thrombotic effects as a part of the renin-angiotensin system (RAS).³³ The downregulation of ACE2 by SARS-CoV-2 in severe COVID-19 has inflammatory, fibrotic, and thrombotic effects in the lungs, the cardiovascular system, and the kidneys. We performed a meta-analysis to demonstrate the relationships between ACE2, COVID-19, and organ failures. Examining SARS-CoV-2 and the RAS in close detail will help to explain this relationship.

SARS-CoV-2

Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is the virus that causes coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). Although SARS-CoV-2 is a novel coronavirus, it follows many of the well-studied patterns seen in other coronaviruses. Coronaviruses are enveloped in a lipid-protein envelope and contain positive sense single-stranded RNA genomes.³⁴ Their microscopic appearance is that of a membrane surrounded by a crown, which is why they are called coronaviruses: *corona* is Latin for crown.³⁵ Coronavirus genomes are around 30,000 base pairs long, making them the largest RNA viruses known.³⁵ SARS-CoV-2 has about 29,900 bases in its genome.³⁶ The first two thirds of coronavirus genomes encode a polyprotein that is proteolytically cleaved into smaller proteins with virus-creating functions, while the final third encodes structural proteins that protect the genome and facilitate entry via a host cell receptor.³⁴

The coronavirus family is divided into four genera: alpha and beta coronaviruses infect primarily mammals, gamma coronaviruses infect primarily birds, and delta coronaviruses can infect both mammals and birds.^{35,37} Though there are many viruses in the coronavirus family, only seven are known to infect humans: HKU1, NL63, OC43, 229E, Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS), severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV), and SARS-CoV-2.^{37,38} HKU1, NL63, OC43, and 229E each cause mild symptoms consistent with the common cold.³⁷ On the other hand, SARS-CoV, MERS, and SARS-CoV-2 have higher infection and mortality rates.³⁷

Coronaviruses arise in humans through zoonosis, a host-species-switching process where viruses from one animal species infect another animal, typically from genome mutations and close physical proximity that select for this change.^{39,40} To confidently identify the immediate ancestor of a virus, another virus with nearly identical genome must be identified (>99% similarity).⁴¹ Bats and birds are a major reservoir for coronaviruses, but they are not the only animals involved in transferring coronaviruses to humans.⁴⁰ It is widely accepted that bat coronaviruses gave rise to MERS, SARS-CoV, and now SARS-CoV-2.36,42 However, with MERS and SARS-CoV, intermediate hosts were also involved that accepted bat coronaviruses and gave rise to human coronaviruses.^{39,42} For MERS, the intermediate host was the dromedary camel.³⁹ For SARS-CoV, the intermediate host was the civet cat.^{36,39} The previous hosts for NL63 and 229E were bats.³⁹ Bovine and rodent coronaviruses gave rise to OC43 and HKU1. respectively.^{39,43} The zoonotic origins of SARS-CoV-2 are not yet fully understood, but bats are the most likely source, with the bat coronavirus RaTG13, found in China, having a 96.21% genome similarity to SARS-CoV-2.41,44 Some scientists are skeptical of RaTG13's legitimacy, but other scientists have found similar strains of bat coronaviruses in nearby countries such as Thailand.^{41,44} Climate change may have affected bat population density in Southeastern Asia so as to promote coronavirus zoonoses.⁴⁵ Pangolins are also being considered as potential zoonotic sources, as certain pangolin coronaviruses have similar receptor-binding domains on their spike proteins to that of SARS-CoV-2.^{41,44} Previously discovered human coronaviruses are not suspected of mutating into SARS-CoV-2, as they are too dissimilar. SARS-CoV is the most similar, sharing only 79.5% genomic homology with SARS-CoV-2.³⁶ MERS has only about 50%

genomic homology with SARS-CoV-2.³⁶ Identifying the zoonotic source of SARS-CoV-2 is crucial to preventing similar catastrophic zoonoses in the future.

Coronaviruses share several structural proteins that differ in sequence but not function. The general structure for SARS-CoV-2 is shown in **Figure 1**. Membrane (M) proteins organize as 2-dimensional lattices to form most of the outer virion, or virus structure, both initially as a frame to build the rest of the virion and in the completed virion.⁴⁶ Envelope (E) proteins are also part of the external virion structure; they oligomerize-combine with other E proteins-to form pores that may disrupt ion gradients within the endoplasmic reticulum or the Golgi bodies, leading to the exocytosis of the virion.⁴⁶ When both M and E proteins are produced, spherical structures are produced in combination with the endoplasmic reticulum membrane.⁴⁶



Figure 1: SARS-CoV-2 structural diagram. The nucleocapsid protein and RNA lie within the virus. The outer envelope contains envelope proteins, spike proteins, membrane proteins, and hemagglutinin esterase. Image from Florindo et al., 2020.⁴⁷

The third structural protein on coronaviruses is the nucleocapsid (N) protein. N proteins are highly expressed in coronaviruses and associate with their RNA within the capsid through electrostatic interactions.⁴⁶ N proteins aid in viral entry, influencing cellular processes, and facilitating RNA conformational shifts as RNA chaperones.^{46,48} They can even inhibit certain immune responses such as interferon production, increasing susceptibility to the virus.⁴⁶

The fourth and largest structural protein all coronaviruses express is the spike (S) glycoprotein.⁴⁸ The spike is highly glycosylated and initiates viral entry into cells.⁴⁸ The spike is a homotrimer with two subunits.⁴⁸ The S1 subunit contains a receptor-binding domain (RBD) that initiates entry upon binding a host receptor.⁴⁸ The S1 subunit can have an active "up" conformation or an inactive "down" conformation.⁴⁶ After binding a host receptor, the S1 subunit dissociates from the S2 subunit.⁴⁶ The S2 subunit then facilitates entry by either fusion or endocytosis, depending on the specific coronavirus and/or the host's characteristics.⁴⁹ The spike protein extends the furthest away from the center of the virus, and is thus the optimum target for adaptive immunity, whether by vaccination or direct exposure to SARS-CoV-2. It is also the characteristic that gives rise to the crown-like appearance of coronaviruses, as seen in **Figure 2**. Although each coronavirus expresses spike proteins, their respective spikes can have different targets. The MERS spike targets dipeptidyl peptidase 4.35 229E targets aminopeptidase N.50 OC43 and HKU1 spikes bind to sugars called 9-O-acetylated sialic acids.^{35,51} NL63, SARS-CoV, and SARS-CoV-2 all bind membrane-bound angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), despite NL63 having a much different spike protein from SARS-CoV and SARS-CoV-2.35,52



Figure 2: SARS-CoV-2 particles isolated from a patient, viewed with transition electron microscopy.⁵³ Image captured and colored by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Disease (NIAID) Integrated Research Facility (IRF) in Fort Detrick, Maryland.⁵³

Some coronaviruses express a fifth structural protein called hemagglutinin esterase (HE). HE is only expressed by beta coronaviruses, which for humans include OC43, HKU1, MERS, SARS-CoV, and SARS-CoV-2.⁴⁸ It is another component of the viral envelope for these viruses. HE is thought to have receptor destroying properties in OC43 and HKU1, but it is understudied, especially in the case of SARS-CoV-2.^{43,48}

Although SARS-CoV-2 follows the structural patterns outlined, it also has some unique features not seen in other human coronaviruses. Although the genomes of the human coronaviruses differ among all the proteins that they encode, the spike protein is where these differences stand out. The SARS-CoV-2 spike protein RBD binds ACE2 with higher affinity than the SARS-CoV spike RBD, despite both binding to the same region on ACE2.^{38,54} Also, certain strains of SARS-CoV-2 have mutations in the spike and its RBD that increase affinity for ACE2 beyond the original Wuhan strain.⁵⁵ An example of this acquired advantage via spike mutation is the strain first identified in South Africa (lineage B.1.351).⁵⁵ The differing affinities for ACE2 among SARS-CoV, SARS-CoV-2, and mutant SARS-CoV-2 spike proteins are due to key residue differences in the RBDs of these spike proteins.^{38,55} Another unique feature of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein is the presence of a furin cleavage site, an RRAR insertion where the SARS-CoV spike has just an R, between the S1 and S2 subunits.³⁸ The presence of a furin cleavage site is associated with higher infectivity and a larger host range; the furin cleavage site allows the S1 and S2 subunits to separate upon being acted on by a compatible protease like furin, after which the S1 subunits float away and the S2 trimer facilitates fusion.³⁸ For SARS-CoV-2, the proteases that work the best at facilitating this cleavage are TMPRSS2, a cell surface serine protease, and lysosomal proteases such as cathepsin.⁵⁶ These same proteases also help activate fusion in SARS-CoV by activating its spike, although the furin cleavage site is absent.⁵⁶ A recent study that removed the furin cleavage site on SARS-CoV-2 found that pathogenesis was reduced.⁵⁷ Interestingly, exposure to SARS-CoV-2 with this furin cleavage site removal provided adequate immunity to fight wild-type SARS-CoV-2.⁵⁷ Thus, the SARS-CoV-2 spike binds ACE2 with high affinity at the RBD and has a furin cleavage site, both of which contribute to a higher infectivity than that seen in SARS-CoV.

The entry mechanism of SARS-CoV-2 is becoming highly researched but remains contentious in certain aspects; still, enough is known for a general outline of the process. The infection cycle of SARS-CoV-2 begins when its RBD on S1 binds to membranebound ACE2.⁵⁶ Upon this binding, depending on the presence or absence of the TMPRSS2, two entry pathways exist (Figure 3).^{49,58} If TMPRSS2 is present on the cell surface, it cleaves the spike protein at the S1/S2 border.⁴⁹ S1 dissociates from the virus, floating away in the extracellular fluid likely with its receptor, ACE2.^{54,56} The S2 subunit facilitates membrane fusion with the cell, after which the viral RNA is released into the cytosol.⁴⁹ It is unknown whether this membrane fusion creates a temporary pore or a permanent and complete fusion.⁴⁹ Since TMPRSS2 expression is higher in men, as its expression depends on androgen levels, excess in this entry pathway potentially contributes to the differing severities of COVID-19 between the sexes.⁵⁹ Alternatively, if TMPRSS2 is not present, endocytosis occurs.⁴⁹ This typically but not necessarily involves clathrin, an endocytic protein.⁴⁹ Once the virus is taken into an endosome, the endosome travels to and fuses with a lysosome.⁴⁹ Within this lysosome, proteases such as cathepsin and furin facilitate the fusion event by cleaving the S1/S2 cleavage site, releasing the S1 subunit and ACE2 into the lysosome.^{49,60} S2 then facilitates the fusion, and the viral RNA is released into the cytosol.⁴⁹ Once the viral RNA is released into the cytosol, the two pathways converge.



Figure 3: SARS-CoV-2 entry occurs by either endocytosis or direct fusion. Diagram modified from Mahmoud et al., 2020.⁵⁸

Once in the cytosol, the viral RNA travels to and binds the host ribosomes and translation occurs, producing proteins and polyproteins that divide into several functional proteins that help in the virus-making process.⁶¹ Perhaps the most important of these functional proteins is RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (NSP12), which copies and greatly amplifies the amount of viral RNA within the cell.⁶¹ The RNA in the cell accumulates, and ribosomes start making lots of viral structural proteins. The M, S, E, N, and HE proteins form virions, many of which successfully contain a viral RNA strand. The completed viruses are then ready to leave the cell. There are two main mechanisms for leaving the cell. Extrusion, or budding, is a form of exocytosis in which the virus is neatly released to the interstitium.⁶² Lysis occurs when the cell builds so many viruses

that the pressure bursts the cell, releasing all of the viruses and killing the cell. Regardless of the way the viruses are released, they immediately search for new cells to infect by blindly extending and retracting their new spike proteins, relying on Brownian motion to connect them with ACE2. But ACE2 is more than just a receptor for SARS-CoV-2.⁶³ Its function is critical, and when its levels are insufficient, the effects are devastating.

Renin-Angiotensin System

Angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is involved in a complex pathway called the renin-angiotensin system (RAS). The RAS governs many aspects of the body's organs and cardiovascular system, and research continues to reveal new functions and mechanisms of the RAS.⁶⁴ The first RAS component was discovered in 1898 by Robert Tigerstedt and his student Per Bergman.^{64,65} They noticed that a molecule from the renal cortex caused blood pressure to be raised, and called that molecule renin.^{64,65} Renin was forgotten about until its rediscovery the 1930's, and by 1970's many more RAS components were identified.⁶⁴

Around that time, the RAS was considered to consist of a sequential string of reactions occurring by enzymes from various organs in the circulation.⁶⁴ This classical RAS pathway goes as follows: renin from the kidneys cleaves angiotensinogen from the liver into angiotensin I, which is then turned into angiotensinogen II by angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) mostly in the lungs.^{64,66} The angiotensin II then causes the release of the hormone aldosterone from the adrenal cortex, and blood pressure is raised.^{64,66} Although all of this is true, the RAS has now been proven to be much more extensive in its participants, its functionally, and where it occurs in the body.⁶⁴

One popular modern model of the RAS focuses on the existence of two connected pathways, the "classical pathway" and the "alternative pathway," that work in opposition to each other (**Figure 4**).⁶⁷ Although more complex models exist that outline more reactants, receptors, and effects, the dual pathway model is adequate to describe the

physiological role of ACE2.⁶⁷ The classical pathway consists of the aforementioned linear pathway wherein angiotensinogen is converted into angiotensin I by renin, and angiotensin I is converted to angiotensin II by ACE.^{64,66,67} The alternative pathway was discovered more recently; its key enzyme ACE2 was discovered in 2000.³³ In this pathway, angiotensin I and angiotensin II are converted to angiotensin (1-9) and angiotensin (1-7), respectively, by ACE2.^{33,67} The effects of these two pathways are opposite: The classical pathway promotes vasoconstriction, fibrosis, inflammation, coagulation, edema, oxidative stress, and the water reabsorption hormones aldosterone and antidiuretic hormone (ADH).^{33,67,68} The alternative pathway, on the other hand, has vasodilative, antifibrotic, anti-inflammatory, anticoagulative, anti-edemic, antioxidant, and natriuretic effects.^{33,67,68}



2 Competing RAS Pathways

Figure 4: The dual pathway model of the RAS. Made with information from Ocaranza et al., 2020, Verdecchia et al., 2020, and Te Riet et al., 2015.^{33,67,68}

RAS enzymes have often been associated with certain organs and assumed to be irrelevant in others.⁶⁴ Although there are expression differences for RAS enzymes for each organ, there is enough expression to generate a "local RAS" for each organ and blood vessel.^{64,69} When the whole body's RAS or the local RAS for a tissue are unbalanced, pathologies result.^{67–70}

The RAS begins with the liver, which produces and secretes most of the body's angiotensinogen.⁷¹ Interestingly, angiotensinogen is also produced in various other organs, including the kidneys, heart, and even the brain.^{71–73} Angiotensinogen is the precursor to the angiotensin peptides, and thus both RAS pathways depend on it to elicit changes.^{67,72}

Renin is an aspartate protease that converts angiotensinogen into usable angiotensin I.⁷⁴ The major source of renin in the body are the juxtaglomerular cells of the kidney.⁷⁴ However, prorenin, the renin precursor, is expressed throughout the body.⁷⁴ Prorenin is also present in the circulation in levels much higher than renin.⁷⁴ This prorenin is inactive, but can give rise to functional renin.⁷⁴

Angiotensin I is a short peptide involved in both the classical and the alternative RAS pathway.⁶⁷ Angiotensin I is not known to bind receptors directly, but it is a precursor for multiple receptor ligands.⁶⁷ The levels of ACE and ACE2 determine what it becomes.³³

Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) is an integral component of both the classical and alternative RAS pathways.⁶⁷ It facilitates the conversion of angiotensin I to angiotensin II as well as the conversion of angiotensin (1-9) to angiotensin (1-7).⁶⁷ ACE is originally expressed on cell membranes, but can be cleaved to a soluble form that is still enzymatically active.⁷⁵ Many tissues express ACE, including but not limited to the lungs, heart, kidneys, and even certain immune cells like macrophages.⁷⁰

Angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) is the gateway for commitment to the alternative RAS pathway.⁶⁷ It converts angiotensin I into angiotensin (1-9) and angiotensin II into angiotensin (1-7).⁶⁷ This causes a decrease in the effects of angiotensin II and an increase in the effects of angiotensin (1-7), both of which will be discussed shortly. ACE2 shares about a 42% sequence identity to ACE.⁷⁵ ACE2 also is initially membrane bound, with the potential to be cleaved into a soluble but still active form.^{75,76} A disintegrin and metalloprotease 17 (ADAM17) is one membrane enzyme capable of performing this cleavage.^{33,76} ACE2 is expressed throughout the body, especially in the lungs, heart, kidneys, liver, colon, testes, and blood vessels.^{33,75,76} Several polymorphisms of ACE2 exist in populations, with catalytic efficiency being reduced in some of them.⁷⁷ ACE2 expression is often increased in damaged organs as an attempt to facilitate healing.⁷⁸ Often a higher soluble ACE2 level is associated with a lower membrane-bound ACE2 level in organ tissues, and thus indicates a RAS imbalance for those organs in favor of the classical RAS pathway.^{79,80} The local ratios of ACE and ACE2 are important in determining which RAS pathway that tissues favor.^{76,81}

Angiotensin II is the main facilitator of the classical RAS pathway. It acts on the angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT_1R) to elicit the vasoconstrictive, fibrotic,

19

inflammatory, coagulative, oxidative, and water-reabsorbing effects of the classical RAS.^{33,67} Alternatively, it can bind to other receptors such as the angiotensin II type 2 receptor (AT₂R) and the angiotensin II type 4 receptor (AT₄R) to cause similar effects to those of the alternative RAS.^{33,67,68} However, the effects of AT₂R and AT₄R are not typically pronounced enough to balance the effects of angiotensin II has when binding the AT₁R, making high levels of angiotensin II damaging.³³

Angiotensin (1-9) is formed from angiotensin I by ACE2.^{33,67} It is capable of binding to the AT₂R, countering the effects of the classical RAS.⁶⁷ It is also the precursor to angiotensin (1-7), the main facilitator of the alternative pathway.^{33,67} This conversion is done by ACE.^{33,67}

Angiotensin (1-7) is the final product in the alternative RAS.^{33,67} It binds to the Mas receptor (MasR) to elicit vasodilative, antifibrotic, anti-inflammatory, anticoagulative, anti-edemic, antioxidant, and natriuretic effects.^{33,67–69} Angiotensin (1-7) is also associated with slowing down aging and has healing effects on organs.^{69,82}

In the context of COVID-19, it is easy to perceive ACE2 as the receptor for SARS-CoV-2 without considering the function of ACE2 in the RAS. Several disease states are associated with RAS imbalances, and severe COVID-19 matches the symptoms of these imbalances. Although the direct relationship between severe COVID-19 and RAS imbalances are largely understudied, viewing COVID-19 from the perspective of the RAS elucidates why certain symptoms are experienced in ways that a traditional viral infection perspective fails.

ACE2 Downregulation

Most ACE2 in the body is in the membrane-bound form, but some soluble ACE2 is also detectable in healthy individuals. ACE2 downregulation occurs when subnormal levels of membrane bound ACE2 are present in a tissue. These downregulations can be local, affecting only one tissue through a local RAS, or systemic, affecting the whole body by pervasive downregulation. Recent studies have indicated ACE2 downregulation to be a major factor in several pathologies, and new research is consistently broadening the list of disorders that ACE2 downregulation plays a role in.

Several pathologies are associated with less membrane bound ACE2 presence. The most notable examples are hypertension, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular disease.^{83,84} Some others include organ fibrosis, thromboembolisms, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and even certain cancers.^{33,84–86} Patients with each of these conditions tend to have a higher morbidity during COVID-19.^{30,33,87,88} Often, the downregulation of membrane ACE2 in tissues is accompanied by an increase in serum ACE2.^{79,84} This is also often seen in severe cases of COVID-19.⁸⁹ This is likely due to increased ADAM17 activity, which facilitates this change.^{79,84}

In addition to the association of lower membrane bound ACE2 levels with these disorders, ACE2 levels also vary in healthy individuals according to several controllable and uncontrollable factors.⁸⁴ Smoking increases ACE2 expression in the lungs, likely as an attempt to heal the damages done by the inhaled toxins.⁸⁴ Diets high in salt also increase ACE2 expression and activity to decrease the amount of sodium in the blood by

reducing the aldosterone production and secretion that is caused by angiotensin II, thus promoting natriuresis.⁸⁴ Glucose and fat-rich diets reduce ACE2 levels.^{33,84} ACE2 levels decrease with age, which is likely due to increased ADAM17 activity, as serum ACE2 levels increase with age.^{33,79,84} This age effect is sex-dependent, with males losing membrane ACE2 sooner in life than females.^{79,84} One theory explains this sex-effect as a being independent to the amount of sex chromosomes present, despite ACE2 being present on the X chromosome; however, one study found the level of ACE2 expression in mouse kidneys to be dependent on estrogen levels, which are higher in females.⁹⁰

Several mechanisms have been proposed for the downregulation of ACE2 in COVID-19, but this downregulation is largely understudied. This is perhaps due to the overshadowing of ACE2's role in the RAS by its role in the entry of SARS-CoV-2.³³ Other mechanisms that may play a part are barely being considered, if at all. **Table 1** summarizes four mechanisms that will be discussed shortly. It is most likely true that a combination of the following mechanisms, rather than just one, explain the downregulation of ACE2 seen in severe COVID-19.

Mechanism of ACE2 Downregulation in Severe COVID-19	Effect on ACE2
Entry of SARS-CoV-2	Removal from cell surface; internalization
Increased ADAM17 activity	Cleavage; less on cell surface, more in serum
HE activity?	Destruction
Genetic Downregulation by COVID-19?	Less production

Table 1: Proposed mechanisms of ACE2 downregulation in severe COVID-19. Each of these mechanisms would reduce the amount of ACE2 on the tissues dealing with infection. The first two mechanisms are most likely correct. The last two mechanisms are largely unproven and understudied in the case of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID-19, which is why there is a question mark after them.

The two roles of ACE2 in COVID-19 as the receptor for SARS-CoV-2 and a healing component for the organs damaged are not mutually exclusive. When SARS-CoV-2 enters the cell, it internalizes ACE2 in a way that prevents its return to the cell surface.^{31,78} When lots of viruses are internalized, as in severe cases of COVID-19, enough ACE2 internalization occurs to effectively downregulate local ACE2 levels, whichever tissue the extensive infection is occurring in.^{31,78} Higher TMPRSS2 expression allows for more SARS-CoV-2 and ACE2 to be internalized, exacerbating this mechanism of downregulation.⁸⁴

Another way that severe COVID-19 likely downregulates ACE2 is by increasing the activity of ADAM17, which sheds the membrane bound ACE2.³¹ Although this leads to higher soluble ACE2 levels in the serum, it is important to realize that serum ACE2 is no longer exclusively present at its source tissue, and thus excessive ADAM17 activity can deprive an organ of its ACE2.⁸⁴ ADAM17 activity is increased by the presence of inflammatory cytokines.⁸⁴ Severe COVID-19 patients often experience cytokine storms, ubiquitous inflammatory cytokine presence that likely increase ADAM17 activity.^{84,91} The high levels of soluble ACE2 often found in severe COVID-19 patient serum are consistent with this mechanism.⁹² COVID-19 may involve other mechanisms of ACE2 downregulation as well. Hemagglutinin-esterase (HE) is present on SARS-CoV-2, as described in the previous section.^{43,48} HE has been known to degrade entry receptors in other viruses such as influenza.^{43,48} The effects of the HE of SARS-CoV-2 on ACE2 are largely unknown, but perhaps degradation occurs that could contribute to ACE2 downregulation.

Another understudied mechanism is genetic downregulation, wherein less ACE2 mRNA is transcribed. Studies showed that infection with SARS-CoV, which also infects via ACE2, led to less ACE2 mRNA transcription.⁹³ If the same phenomenon occurs with SARS-CoV-2, this would reduce the amount of ACE2 present on organs experiencing this effect.

Different ACE2 polymorphisms also have differing efficiencies.⁷⁷ Although this is not downregulation, mutant ACE2 can have the same effects as ACE2 downregulation. Some less efficient varieties of ACE2 are likely associated with risks for more severe COVID-19.⁷⁷ Another consideration with ACE2 polymorphisms is that some likely have a higher affinity for the SARS-CoV-2 spike than others.⁹⁴

Regardless of the circumstances behind ACE2 downregulation, it presents with a clear pattern of symptoms. Organs deficient in ACE2 experience exaggerated classical RAS effects from angiotensin II, leading to inflammation, thromboembolisms, and suboptimal healing that often includes fibrosis.^{31,33,78,84} These effects are well documented in ACE2 knockout models, ACE2 deficient disease states, and severe COVID-19. The following meta-analysis illustrates this correlation.

Inflammation

Inflammation is the process wherein white blood cells (WBCs) infiltrate organ tissues to counter infectious agents that may be present. Once these WBCs enter the tissues, they secrete harmful chemicals to kill the pathogen.⁹⁵ Inflammation is initiated when an organ's resident macrophages secrete cytokines and chemokines that attract circulating cells of innate immunity, such as monocytes and neutrophils.^{95,96} Inflammation continues until the infection is destroyed. If the innate immune system is insufficient for several days, the adaptive immune system attempts to stop the infection. The adaptive immune system, especially its T cells, can also promote inflammation, and can deal collateral damage to healthy tissue cells.⁹⁶ In the effort to contain an infection, inflammation also generates cell-damaging reactive oxygen species (ROS).⁹⁷ The RAS plays a major role in inflammation both for innate and adaptive immunity.⁹⁸ When angiotensin II binds the AT₁R on immune cells, a transcription factor called nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B) is activated and causes the transcription of pro-inflammatory genes encoding cytokines and chemokines (**Figure 5**).^{95,98,99}



Figure 5: NF- κ B expression in immune cells causes inflammation. The main cells that facilitate this inflammation are macrophages, neutrophils, and, later during the infection, T cells. Diagram made by Liu et al., 2017.⁹⁵

Though inflammation is important for defending tissues from being compromised by foreign invaders, it can also occur when the foreign object is harmless, thus causing more damage than no response at all would have.¹⁰⁰ Allergies are a good example of inflammation in response to a nonharmful stimulus.¹⁰⁰ Inflammation can also be damaging when it occurs at a much higher level than an infection requires to be quelled.¹⁰⁰ In these ironic instances, efforts to save an organ from an infection sacrifice the organ or even the organism to do so.¹⁰⁰ With allergies, this overreaction is called anaphylaxis and is mediated by cytokines.¹⁰⁰ The RAS can be a major player in this aspect of inflammation as well.¹⁰¹ When more angiotensin II is present, inflammation occurs to a larger degree, because of its pro-inflammatory effects on leukocytes, endothelial cells, and vascular smooth muscle.¹⁰¹ Since ACE2 downregulation leads to an accumulation of angiotensin II, it also causes increased inflammation.⁹⁷

Severe cases of COVID-19 often exhibit excessive inflammation.^{102,103} This inflammation can be localized or ubiquitous.¹⁰³ Potential causes of ubiquitous inflammation in COVID-19 include macrophage activation syndrome (MAS, also called "cytokine storm") and T cell lymphopenia, among others.¹⁰³ With MAS, inflammatory cytokines reach a high enough level to cause monocytes to systemically enter tissues and promote more inflammation, severely harming tissues all over the body.¹⁰³ In T-cell lymphopenia, severe infection by SARS-CoV-2 exhausts and depletes T cells, likely leading to an imbalance in adaptive and innate immunity that exacerbates the cytokine storm.^{103,104} The high level of inflammation can cause acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), a potentially fatal complication in the lungs (**Figure 6** and **Figure 7**).^{102,103,105} They can also contribute to life-threatening kidney injuries in the renal corpuscle and tubules (**Figure 8**).¹⁰⁶


Figure 6: Inflammation of the lungs in severe COVID-19. The alveoli lose their squamous features and macrophages are present in the tissue and the alveolar space. Image from Tian et al., 2020.¹⁰²



Figure 7: Lungs from a patient who died of COVID-19. A is the macroscopic appearance. B shows the histopathology: the endothelium is inflamed at several points. Image from Ackermann et al., 2020.¹⁰⁵



Figure 8: Autopsy of a severe COVID-19 patient reveals necrosis and neutrophil infiltration in the tubules of the kidney. Image from Santoriello et al., 2020.¹⁰⁶

Similar levels of inflammation are also seen in ACE2 knockout models and other ACE2 deficient disease states. Research on the relationship between ACE2 and inflammation has surged since the start of the pandemic (**Figure 9**). The following meta-analysis sorts a sample of sources reporting inflammation by their organ in these three pathological states (**Table 2**). Sources were obtained from PubMed and Google Scholar by searching "ACE2 knockout inflammation [organ]," "ACE2 inflammation [organ]," or "COVID inflammation [organ]." The results were then screened according to their useful insights, experimental results, and images. Sources that had no input relevant to this study were not included. Three organs, the lungs, heart, and kidneys, were considered, but the

effects of ACE2 downregulation are felt by any tissue with this downregulation. Each bold number indicates the number of sources found that indicated an increase in inflammation. No sources associated ACE2 deficiency with decreasing inflammation.



Figure 9: PubMed results for "ACE2 Inflammation" by year. Research in this area was slowly increasing until 2019, which saw a large increase in the amount of research in this area due to COVID-19. Data collected on May 3, 2021.

Organ	ACE2 Knockout	Low ACE2	Severe COVID-19
	5	6	11
Lungs	107–111 _*	33,63,112–115*	88,105,112,113,115–121 *
	_	-	9
Kidnovs	3	9	113,115,121,127,128,130,132-
Mulleys	122–124*	63,115,125–131*	
			134*
Cardiovascular	2		_
System	135,136 _*	10	9

		63,76,113-115,130,137-	31,113,115,121,130,138,141-
		140 %	143 *
Table 2: Meta-analysis data on the increase in inflammation reported for ACE2 knockout			

models, low ACE2 presence in tissues, and severe COVID-19. Each of these pathological conditions promote inflammation in each of the organs examined. *The smaller numbers correspond to the sources.

Coagulopathy

Coagulopathies are pathologies regarding excessive or insufficient blood clotting. In healthy individuals, coagulation occurs to seal wounds, preserve fluids, and prevent any microbes present from entering circulation. The formation of a blood clot occurs through the actions of the coagulation cascade (Figure 10).^{144–146} An injury exposes tissue factor and collagen, which bind to clotting factors and platelets.^{147,148} Factor X is converted to factor Xa by one of two pathways, depending on whether tissue factor or collagen was detected.¹⁴⁴ Factor Xa then converts prothrombin to thrombin.^{144–146} The thrombin subsequently converts fibrinogen into fibrin, which acts like a net, covering the wound and trapping all cells present in a scab, including red blood cells, platelets, and any bacteria that is present.^{144,145} Coagulation can also occur for internal bleeding, in which endothelial tissue integrity is compromised, through the same coagulation cascade; this internal coagulation creates a thrombus.^{138,144} Blood clots, specifically the fibrin nets holding them together, are eventually broken down by plasmin, the active form of plasminogen.¹⁴⁹ Angiotensin II activates platelets to coagulate and discourages anticoagulative actions from endothelial cells by causing the secretion of plasminogen activator-inhibitor type 1.¹⁵⁰ ACE2 is highly expressed in endothelial cells and plays a protective role for them thus countering the formation of thrombi.¹⁵⁰ Also, platelets have a Mas receptor for Angiotensin (1-7), which upon binding it promotes production of nitric oxide (NO), which has anticoagulative properties.¹⁵⁰



Figure 10: The coagulation cascade. Angiotensin II promotes coagulation by encouraging platelet activation and causing endothelial cells to inhibit circulating plasminogen. ACE2 decreases coagulation by reducing angiotensin II levels and inactivating platelets by increasing angiotensin (1-7) levels, which stimulates the platelets to produce NO. Diagram from Overbey and Jones, 2014.¹⁴⁶

Although blood clotting is crucial to survival, coagulopathies can reduce the fitness advantage it provides. Thrombosis describes when blood clots form in the absence of injury, blocking blood flow to the cells that need the nutrients and oxygen from the blood.^{151,152} The blockage of oxygen access leads to ischemia and parenchymal death, and potentially fibrosis.¹⁵² Another potential complication of thromboses are embolisms, which occur when a thrombosis is formed in one tissue, often leg veins, then dislodges

and travels through the blood stream to another tissue, similarly blocking blood flow to the new tissue.¹⁵¹ The word thromboembolism describes both phenomena.¹⁵¹ Thromboembolism can result in tissue death, such as that seen in acute lung injury (ALI).¹⁴⁵

Tiny thromboembolisms are extremely common in severe cases of COVID-19.^{105,116,117} Microthrombi can also contribute to respiratory failure and ARDS, which can occur with or be independent of severe COVID-19.¹⁰⁵ Microthrombi in the lungs of a casualty of severe COVID-19 are shown in **Figure 11**.¹⁰⁵ Several autopsies of severe COVID-19 patients have also found excessive coagulation in the kidneys (**Figure 12**).¹⁰⁶



Figure 11: Inflammation with microthrombi in the lung tissue of a patient who died of severe COVID-19. Blood is also visible in the alveolar space. The arrowheads indicate the clots. Image from Ackermann et al., 2020.¹⁰⁵



Figure 12: Autopsy of a severe COVID-19 patient reveals capillary congestion and a large thrombus in the glomerulus of a kidney. The arrow indicates the large thrombus. Image modified from Santoriello et al., 2020.¹⁰⁶

A high frequency of thromboembolisms also manifests in ACE2 knockouts and other ACE2 deficient disease states.¹⁵⁰ Research in this area has recently surged (**Figure 13**). The following meta-analysis sorts a sample of sources reporting thrombosis by their organ in these three pathological states (**Table 3**). Each bold number indicates the number of sources found that mentioned an increase in thrombus formation. Sources were obtained from PubMed and Google Scholar by searching "ACE2 knockout thrombosis [organ]," "ACE2 thrombosis [organ]," or "COVID thrombosis [organ]." The results were then screened according to their useful insights, experimental results, and images. Sources that had no input relevant to this study were not included. Three organs, the lungs, heart, and kidneys, were considered, but the effects of ACE2 downregulation are felt by any tissue with this downregulation, especially considering the potential mobility of thrombi. No sources associated ACE2 deficiency with less thrombosis. No ACE2 knockout studies were found to examine the relationship between ACE2 and

thrombosis; however, this area of ACE2 is largely understudied compared to inflammation and fibrosis. The low ACE2 studies and COVID-19 studies examined both indicated more thrombosis.



Figure 13: PubMed results for "ACE2 Thrombosis" by year. Research in this area was low until 2019, which saw a large increase in the amount of research due to COVID-19. Data collected on May 3, 2021.

Organ	ACE2 Knockout	Low ACE2	Severe COVID-19
Lungs	0	8 33,63,112–115,150,153 _*	11 105,112,113,115– 118,120,121,154,155*
Kidneys	0	4 63,115,127,130*	9 113,115,121,127,130,132,134,154,156*

		8	
Cardiovascular	0	33,63,113–	8
System	U		113,115,121,130,138,141,142,157*
-		115,130,138,150 *	

Table 3: Meta-analysis data on the increase in thrombosis reported for ACE2 knockout models, low ACE2 presence in tissues, and severe COVID-19. Low ACE2 and severe COVID-19 both exhibit more thrombosis. ACE2 knockout studies did not examine thrombosis; no increase, decrease, or normal thrombosis rates were discussed by these studies. Low ACE2 levels and severe COVID-19 both report thrombosis. *The smaller numbers correspond to the sources.

Fibrosis

Scarring occurs to preserve the integrity of tissues. Fibrosis is simply the pathological scarring of internal organs.¹⁵⁸ Fibrosis and scarring in general are facilitated by cells called myofibroblasts, which differentiate from fibroblasts.¹⁵⁸ Myofibroblasts migrate to sites of tissue injury to secrete extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, especially collagen, to essentially plug holes in tissue.¹⁵⁸ Angiotensin II increases the fibrotic activity of myofibroblasts and promotes their differentiation.¹⁵⁸ Thus, by reducing the amount of angiotensin II in a tissue, ACE2 has antifibrotic effects.¹⁵⁹ Fibrosis can be connected to inflammation: when leukocytes secreting pro-inflammatory cytokines, the amount of collagen present in wounded tissue is increased.¹⁵⁸ It can also be connected to thrombosis: a thromboembolism blocks blood, resulting in ischemia, followed by necrosis and fibrosis.¹⁵² There are many benefits to maintaining tissue structure by shortterm organ scarring, such as the prevention of internal bleeding, the blocking of entry to pathogens, and decreasing the likelihood of a second injury.¹⁵⁸ However, if excessive scarring occurs, as in fibrosis, organs lose functionality.¹⁵⁸ The amount of functional parenchymal tissue decreases as fibrosis increases.¹⁵⁸ Also, fibrosis can cause organs to lose their balance of elasticity that they rely on, as in pulmonary fibrosis, which increases the elastic recoil of the lungs by causing them to make too much elastic fibers in their ECM.¹⁶⁰ Fibrosis can afflict any tissue capable of scarring, and several factors can lead up to it (**Figure 14**).¹⁵⁸



Figure 14: Contributing factors to fibrosis and examples of organs that it can manifest in. Excessive collagen formation without removing the stimuli causing it can lead to fibrosis in the organs. ACE2 downregulation is a causal factor. Modified from Baues et al., 2017.¹⁶¹

Pulmonary fibrosis decreases the productivity per breath, because with more fibrotic tissue presence, less functional alveolar tissue is there to capitalize on the inhaled air (**Figure 15**).^{158,162,163} Also, the elastic recoil of the lungs is increased due to the higher elastin presence, which makes breathing more difficult as well as decreasing the forced vital capacity, the volume of air that can be forcibly exhaled after a full breath.^{160,162} Pulmonary fibrosis is a major threat to survivors of serious lung injuries.¹⁶⁴ The damages to lung tissue caused by regular smoking, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS),

diffuse alveolar damage (DAD), and severe COVID-19 often force the lungs to repair themselves via fibrosis.^{119,164–166} Pulmonary fibrosis tends to increase in severity over time.¹⁶⁷ The mean survival time after diagnosis with pulmonary fibrosis is 2 - 5 years, and antifibrotic therapies and lung transplants are the main treatments.^{162,163,167,168}



Figure 15: Diagram of normal lung tissue vs. pulmonary fibrosis. In A, healthy lung tissue has a minimal fibroblast presence, healthy alveoli, a thin visceral pleura, and an intact terminal bronchiole. In B, fibrotic lung tissue reveals higher fibroblast presence, alveolar damages, a thicker visceral pleura, and a damaged terminal bronchiole. Image from Fernandez and Eickelberg, 2012.¹⁶³

Severe COVID-19 can damage many organs besides the lungs, some of which include the kidneys, heart, digestive system, and liver.^{115,121} This means that fibrosis can occur in any of these organs as well as a result of these damages.^{115,121} Many reports of such fibroses have been documented in case studies and autopsy reports of severe

COVID-19 patients, such as Spagnolo et al., 2020, as seen in **Figure 16**.^{119,121} Additionally, fibroses, especially pulmonary fibrosis, have also been documented in survivors of severe COVID-19.⁸⁸ Organ fibroses are also seen in ACE2 knockout models and other ACE2 deficient disease states (**Figure 17**).^{121,169–171}



В



Figure 16: Chest X-ray of a patient's development of pulmonary fibrosis during severe COVID-19. A shows small fibroses (white fibrous masses like the one indicated by the arrow). B was taken 3 weeks later; many more fibroses are present. Image from Spagnolo et al., 2020.¹¹⁹



Figure 17: Renal fibrosis in mice with diabetic kidney injury with and without the gene for ACE2. The brown dye indicates fibronectin, a marker of fibroblast activity. The left image is of a mouse with a normal ACE2 gene; minimal fibrosis is present. The right image is of an ACE2 knockout mouse; excessive fibrosis is visible. Image from Wong et al., 2007.¹⁶⁹

Since the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic, research on the relationship between ACE2 and fibrosis has been amplified (**Figure 18**). The following meta-analysis sorts a sample of sources reporting fibrosis by their organ in these three pathological states (**Table 4**). Each bold number indicates the number of sources found that mentioned an increase in fibrosis. Sources were obtained from PubMed and Google Scholar by searching "ACE2 knockout fibrosis [organ]," "ACE2 fibrosis [organ]," or "COVID fibrosis [organ]." The results were then screened according to their useful insights, experimental results, and images. Sources that had no input relevant to this study were not included. Three organs, the lungs, heart, and kidneys, were considered, but the effects of ACE2 downregulation are felt by any tissue with this downregulation. No sources associated ACE2 deficiency with decreasing fibrosis. One ACE2 knockout study indicated that no change was observed with regards to fibrosis in the heart.¹⁷² However, 2 other studies did observe fibrosis after knocking out ACE2.^{135,136}



Figure 18: PubMed results for "ACE2 Fibrosis" by year. Research in this area was slowly increasing until 2019, which saw a large increase in the amount of research in this area due to COVID-19. Data taken on May 3, 2021.

Organ	ACE2 Knockout	Low ACE2	Severe COVID-19
	3	7	6
Lungs	108–110*	33,63,112–115,171*	88,113,115,118–120*
Kidneys	4 122–124,169*	10 63,115,125– 127,129,131,170,173,174*	5 115,121,127,132,134 _*
Cardiovascular	2/3	8	4
System	135,136,172 *	33,63,76,114,115,137,140,173*	31,115,121,141*

Table 4: Meta-analysis data on the increase in fibrosis reported for ACE2 knockout

 models, low ACE2 presence in tissues, and severe COVID-19. Each of these pathological

conditions promotes fibrosis in each of the organs examined. *The smaller numbers indicate the sources.

RAS-based COVID-19 Treatments

The disruption of the RAS balance in severe COVID-19 provides a therapeutic target, and throughout the course of this pandemic, several RAS-based treatments have been proposed (**Table 5**). When something is present in too high amounts, as is angiotensin II in severe COVID-19, it makes sense to reduce its presence. Conversely, when there are insufficient amounts of something, as with ACE2 in severe COVID-19, it makes sense to increase its presence. Almost every RAS-based treatment proposed for severe COVID-19 attempts to either decrease angiotensin II levels or increase ACE2 levels.

Treatment	Effect
ACE2 Inhibitors	-
ADAM17 Enhancers	-
Renin Inhibitors	0
ACE Inhibitors	0
AT ₁ R Blockers (ARBs)	0
Human Recombinant Soluble ACE2	
(hrsACE2)	+
ADAM17 Inhibitors	+

Table 5: Proposed and developing RAS-based treatments for severe COVID-19. A positive value indicates that the treatment helps reduce the symptoms of severe COVID-19. A value of zero indicates little to no effect. A negative value indicates a harmful

effect. ACE2 inhibitors and ADAM17 enhancers are predicted to be harmful based on the patterns observed in this study, but no experimental data in the case of severe COVID-19 in humans is available, as it would be unethical to treat patients with medication likely to be harmful.

Upon discovering that ACE2 was the receptor for SARS-CoV-2, some scientists quickly assumed that inhibiting ACE2 would save critical patients and slow the spread of the virus.¹⁷⁵ Several scientists have warned against ACE2 inhibitor treatment in COVID-19, indicating that they shift the balance of the RAS in favor of the classical angiotensin II pathway.^{33,175} As shown in this paper, reducing ACE2 levels can be catastrophic. ACE2 inhibitors are no longer being considered as a treatment for COVID-19. Most of the other proposed RAS-based treatments work with the alternative RAS, rather than against it.

Inhibitors of the classical RAS are popular prescription drugs used in the treatment of hypertension.^{33,176} Renin inhibitors, ACE inhibitors, and AT₁R blockers (ARBs) all work to reduce the influence of angiotensin II.^{33,176,177} As such, they have been examined as potential candidates for reducing the severity of severe COVID-19.^{33,176,177} Earlier in the crisis, doctors were worried about renewing prescriptions of these drugs, as they have been associated with ACE2 upregulation.^{176–178} The doctors did not want to provide SARS-CoV-2 with more receptors to enter the cells of these high-risk patients.^{176–178} Another set of doctors opposingly proposed that blocking the classical RAS would weaken severe COVID-19 symptoms.^{176,177} Interestingly, many clinical studies, including a large international cohort study by Morales et al., 2020, showed that classical RAS inhibitors neither increased nor decreased risk of severe COVID-19.^{177,178}

One study interestingly found that ACE inhibitors and ARBs reduce the risk of COVID-19, but not severe COVID-19.¹⁷⁹ The reason for the widely reported ineffectiveness of classical-RAS inhibitors in treating severe COVID-19 is currently unknown. Perhaps they simply do not occur at the same level as the ACE2 downregulation in severe COVID-19. Doctors currently recommend that these classical-RAS inhibiting drugs be prescribed as normal, neither increasing nor decreasing prescriptions and/or dosages.^{176,177}

Human soluble recombinant ACE2 (hrsACE2) has been the most successful RASbased COVID-19 treatment.¹¹² The idea behind it is that it both binds the spike protein on SARS-CoV-2, blocking its entry into cells, and also helps to deplete angiotensin II, lessening the effects of the classical RAS.¹¹² Before the pandemic, hrsACE2 was already in a clinical trial under the name APN01 as a treatment for various hypertensive, pulmonary, cardiovascular, kidney, and cancerous diseases.¹⁸⁰ Upon realization of its potential as a treatment of severe COVID-19, APN01 studies skyrocketed in popularity. It is now in phase 2 of clinical trials as a severe COVID-19 treatment and is showing very promising results, aiding in several recoveries from the threshold of death.¹¹² hrsACE2 has a half-life of 10 hours and is given intravenously twice daily.^{112,181} Several studies on mice and people have revealed ACE2 treatment to reduce inflammation, thrombosis, and fibrosis in treated organs (**Table 6**). Sources were obtained from PubMed and Google Scholar by searching variations of "ACE2 treatment [organ] [symptom]." In addition to sources found this way, certain sources from other sections of the meta-analysis also discussed and/or performed ACE2 treatments, so they were included here as well.

Organ	Less Inflammation	Less Thrombosis	Less Fibrosis
.	5	3	3
Lungs	33,112,114,182,183	33,112,150	33,112,114
	3		3
Kidneys	124,128,129	0	124,129,174
Cardiovascular	1	1	
System	114	150	0

Table 6: Meta-analysis data on the reduction of inflammation, thrombosis, and fibrosis by ACE2 treatment by organ. Adding ACE2 to the lungs reduced inflammation, thrombosis, and fibrosis. Adding ACE2 to the kidneys reduced inflammation and fibrosis. Adding ACE2 to the cardiovascular system reduced inflammation and thrombosis. None of the analyzed sources reported on whether ACE2 treatment affects kidney thrombosis or cardiac (interstitial or otherwise) fibrosis. Note that ACE2 treatment is not necessarily APN01 or even hrsACE2; often it was the ACE2 from the species being studied.

Another highly promising RAS-based treatment for severe COVID-19 is ADAM17 inhibition.¹⁸⁴ Severe COVID-19 is often associated with high levels of serum ACE2, indicating that high ADAM17 activity is resulting in the cleavage of membrane ACE2 and the disruption of the local RAS.^{79,84,184} By inhibiting ADAM17, less membrane ACE2 is lost, and the tissue is less prone to ACE2 downregulation and the harmful effects of excess angiotensin II.^{84,184} One paper naively recommended enhancing ADAM17 rather than inhibiting it.¹⁸⁵ The idea was to increase soluble ACE2 that would block the viral spike proteins.¹⁸⁵ However, this would almost certainly be harmful to the organs experiencing the subsequent ACE2 downregulation.^{33,84} Though promising, ADAM17 inhibition is largely understudied compared to hrsACE2 in treating severe COVID-19.^{184,185}

Since COVID-19 and several other diseases are becoming more widely understood to have RAS components as major causal factors, RAS-based treatments are skyrocketing in research focus alongside the RAS itself. Typically, RAS imbalances are in favor of the classical pathway, so treatments try to reduce that difference by promoting the alternative RAS. The future is bright for these drugs.

Conclusion

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the entire world, and vaccines are becoming more widely available by the day in a valiant attempt to thwart it. SARS-CoV-2, the virus behind the pandemic, targets ACE2, an enzyme present on cell surfaces throughout the body with several critical functions in maintaining the integrity of tissues as well as blood flow. In severe COVID-19, ACE2 is downregulated by viral entry and increased activity of ADAM17, which causes the accumulation of its substrate, angiotensin II. Angiotensin II then facilitates inflammation, thrombosis, and fibrosis in the tissues and organs experiencing this downregulation.

The meta-analysis performed here elucidates the similarities between severe COVID-19 and other ACE2 deficient states. Two promising but understudied treatments of severe COVID-19 are based on countering the downregulation of ACE2. hrsACE2 (APN01) treatment, currently in phase 2 of clinical trials, directly adds soluble ACE2, which both blocks the spike proteins on SARS-CoV-2 and reduces angiotensin II levels. ADAM17 inhibition prevents ADAM17 from cleaving off membrane bound ACE2, thus increasing the local ACE2 levels.

Although the current pandemic has been catastrophic in many regards, one positive is that ACE2 research has become more mainstream. It is an incredible enzyme with a very high therapeutic potential, but it is also complicated and was understudied until recently. This sudden attention directed at ACE2 may herald treatments for numerous pathologies beyond just severe COVID-19. The pandemic will hopefully end soon, but the memories, wisdom, and insight gained from it must never be forgotten.

Bibliography

- Liritzis I. Pandemics from ancient times to covid19. Some thoughts. *Mediterr* Archaeol Archaeom. 2020;20(1):i-ix. doi:10.5281/zenodo.3724821
- Tatem AJ, Rogers DJ, Hay SI. Global transport networks and infectious disease spread. *Adv Parasitol*. 2006;62(January):293-343. doi:10.1016/S0065-308X(05)62009-X
- Adalja AA, Watson M, Toner ES, Cicero A, Inglesby T V. Characteristics of microbes most likely to cause pandemics and global catastrophes. In: *Global Catastrophic Biological Risks*. Vol 424. Springer International Publishing; 2019:1-20. doi:10.1007/82_2019_176
- Witt JF. American Contagions. Yale University Press; 2020. doi:10.2307/j.ctv15wxn74
- Battersby SA. Rodents as carriers of disease. In: Buckle AP, Smith RH, eds.
 Rodent Pests and Their Control. 2nd ed. CAB International; 2015:81-99.
- WA A. The treasure called antibiotics. *Ann Ibadan Postgrad Med*. 2016;14(2):56-57. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5354621/pdf/AIPM-14-56.pdf
- Frieri M, Kumar K, Boutin A. Antibiotic resistance. J Infect Public Health. 2017;10(4):369-378. doi:10.1016/j.jiph.2016.08.007
- Klevens RM, Morrison MA, Nadle J, et al. Invasive methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in the United States. *J Am Med Assoc*. 2007;298(15):1763-1771. doi:10.1001/jama.298.15.1763

- Deris ZZ. The multidrug-resistant gram-negative superbugs threat require intelligent use of the last weapon. *Malays J Med Sci.* 2015;22(5):1-6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28239263
- Mark AM. Using antibiotics wisely. J Am Dent Assoc. 2019;150(11):986.
 doi:10.1016/j.adaj.2019.07.019
- De Clercq E. Strategies in the design of antiviral drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*.
 2002;1(1):13-25. doi:10.1038/nrd703
- 12. Parvez MK, Parveen S. Evolution and emergence of pathogenic viruses: past, present, and future. *Intervirology*. 2017;60:1-7. doi:10.1159/000478729
- Koonin E V., Senkevich TG, Dolja V V. The ancient virus world and evolution of cells. *Biol Direct*. 2006;1:1-27. doi:10.1186/1745-6150-1-29
- 14. La Scola B, Desnues C, Pagnier I, et al. The virophage as a unique parasite of the giant mimivirus. *Nature*. 2008;455(7209):100-104. doi:10.1038/nature07218
- 15. Feschotte C, Gilbert C. Endogenous viruses: insights into viral evolution and impact on host biology. *Nat Rev Genet*. 2012;13(4):283-296. doi:10.1038/nrg3199
- 16. Hendrix RW. Bacteriophages: evolution of the majority. *Theor Popul Biol*. 2002;61(4):471-480. doi:10.1006/tpbi.2002.1590
- 17. Liao JB. Cancer issue: viruses and human cancer. *Yale J Biol Med*. 2006;79(3-4):115-122. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1994798/
- 18. Maurice CF, Bouvier C, De Wit R, Bouvier T. Linking the lytic and lysogenic bacteriophage cycles to environmental conditions, host physiology and their

variability in coastal lagoons. *Environ Microbiol*. 2013;15(9):2463-2475. doi:10.1111/1462-2920.12120

- Cumby N, Davidson AR, Maxwell KL. The moron comes of age. *Bacteriophage*.
 2012;2(4):e23146. doi:10.4161/bact.23146
- Griffiths DJ. Endogenous retroviruses in the human genome sequence. *Genome Biol.* 2001;2(6):1-5. doi:10.1186/gb-2001-2-6-reviews1017
- Singhal T. Review on COVID19 disease so far. *Indian J Pediatr*.
 2020;87(April):281-286.
- Larsen JR, Martin MR, Martin JD, Kuhn P, Hicks JB. Modeling the onset of symptoms of COVID-19. *Front Public Heal*. 2020;8. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2020.00473
- Worldmeter. COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic. https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/
- Gandhi RT, Lynch JB, del Rio C. Mild or moderate Covid-19. *N Engl J Med*.
 2020;383(18):1757-1766. doi:10.1056/nejmcp2009249
- 25. MacIntyre CR, Ahmad A. A rapid systematic review of the efficacy of face masks and respirators against coronaviruses and other respiratory transmissible viruses for the community, healthcare workers and sick patients. *Int J Nurs Stud.* 2020;108:103629-103635.
- 26. Rai P, Kumar BK, Deekshit VK, Karunasagar I, Karunasagar I. Detection technologies and recent developments in the diagnosis of COVID-19 infection.

Appl Microbiol Biotechnol. 2021;105(2):441-455. doi:10.1007/s00253-020-11061-5

- Sjödin H, Wilder-Smith A, Osman S, Farooq Z, Rocklöv J. Only strict quarantine measures can curb the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak in Italy, 2020. *Eurosurveillance*. 2020;25(13):1-6. doi:10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.13.2000280
- Weiss P, Murdoch DR. Clinical course and mortality risk of severe COVID-19.
 Lancet. 2020;395(10229):1014-1015. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30633-4
- 29. Bristow IR. The mystery of the COVID toes-turning evidence-based medicine on its head. *J Foot Ankle Res.* 2020;13(1):4-5. doi:10.1186/s13047-020-00408-w
- Cascella M, Rajnik M, Cuomo A, Dulebohn SC, Di Napoli R. Features, Evaluation, and Treatment of Coronavirus.; 2020. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32150360
- South AM, Diz DI, Chappell MC. COVID-19, ACE2, and the cardiovascular consequences. *Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol*. 2020;318(5):H1084-H1090. doi:10.1152/AJPHEART.00217.2020
- 32. Chen M, Shen W, Rowan NR, et al. Elevated ACE-2 expression in the olfactory neuroepithelium: Implications for anosmia and upper respiratory SARS-CoV-2 entry and replication. *Eur Respir J*. 2020;56(3):19-22. doi:10.1183/13993003.01948-2020
- 33. Verdecchia P, Cavallini C, Spanevello A, Angeli F. The pivotal link between

ACE2 deficiency and SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Eur J Intern Med.* 2020;76:14-20. doi:10.1016/j.ejim.2020.04.037

- Alexandersen S, Chamings A, Bhatta TR. SARS-CoV-2 genomic and subgenomic RNAs in diagnostic samples are not an indicator of active replication. *Nat Commun.* 2020;11(1). doi:10.1038/s41467-020-19883-7
- Li F. Structure, function, and evolution of coronavirus spike proteins. *Annu Rev Virol.* 2016;3:237-261. doi:10.1146/annurev-virology-110615-042301
- 36. Zhu Z, Lian X, Su X, Wu W, Marraro GA, Zeng Y. From SARS and MERS to COVID-19: A brief summary and comparison of severe acute respiratory infections caused by three highly pathogenic human coronaviruses. *Respir Res.* 2020;21(1):1-14. doi:10.1186/s12931-020-01479-w
- 37. Xue L, Li J, Wei L, Ma C. A quick look at the latest developments in the COVID19 pandemic. *J Int Med Res.* 2020;48(9). doi:10.1177/0300060520943802
- Andersen KG, Rambaut A, Lipkin WI, Holmes EC, Garry RF. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2. *Nat Med.* 2020;26(4):450-452. doi:10.1038/s41591-020-0820-9
- Dhama K, Patel SK, Sharun K, et al. SARS-CoV-2 jumping the species barrier: Zoonotic lessons from SARS, MERS and recent advances to combat this pandemic virus. *Travel Med Infect Dis*. 2020;37(January):101830-101841. doi:10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101830
- 40. To KKW, Hung IFN, Chan JFW, Yuen KY. From SARS coronavirus to novel animal and human coronaviruses. *J Thorac Dis*. 2013;5(SUPPL.2):S103-S108.

- Wacharapluesadee S, Tan CW, Maneeorn P, et al. Evidence for SARS-CoV-2 related coronaviruses circulating in bats and pangolins in Southeast Asia. *Nat Commun.* 2021;12(1). doi:10.1038/s41467-021-21240-1
- 42. Lee PI, Hsueh PR. Emerging threats from zoonotic coronaviruses-from SARS and MERS to 2019-nCoV. *J Microbiol Immunol Infect*. 2020;53(3):365-367. doi:10.1016/j.jmii.2020.02.001
- 43. Lang Y, Li W, Li Z, et al. Coronavirus hemagglutinin-esterase and spike proteins coevolve for functional balance and optimal virion avidity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A. 2020;117(41):25759-25770. doi:10.1073/pnas.2006299117
- Lin XS, Chen S. Major concerns on the identification of bat coronavirus strain RaTG13 and quality of related Nature paper. 2020;(June). doi:10.20944/preprints202006.0044.v1
- 45. Beyer RM, Manica A, Mora C. Shifts in global bat diversity suggest a possible role of climate change in the emergence of SARS-CoV-1 and SARS-CoV-2. *Sci Total Environ*. 2021;767(January):145413. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145413
- 46. Satarker S, Nampoothiri M. Structural proteins in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2. *Arch Med Res*. 2020;51(6):482-491.
 doi:10.1016/j.arcmed.2020.05.012
- 47. Florindo HF, Kleiner R, Vaskovich-Koubi D, et al. Immune-mediated approaches against COVID-19. *Nat Nanotechnol*. 2020;15(8):630-645. doi:10.1038/s41565-

- 48. Kim CH. Sars-cov-2 evolutionary adaptation toward host entry and recognition of receptor o-acetyl sialylation in virus–host interaction. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(12):1-34. doi:10.3390/ijms21124549
- Bayati A, Kumar R, Francis V, McPherson PS. SARS-CoV-2 infects cells after viral entry via clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *J Biol Chem.* 2021;296:100306. doi:10.1016/j.jbc.2021.100306
- Breslin JJ, Mørk I, Smith MK, et al. Human coronavirus 229E: receptor binding domain and neutralization by soluble receptor at 37°C. *J Virol*. 2003;77(7):4435-4438. doi:10.1128/jvi.77.7.4435-4438.2003
- 51. Hulswit RJG, Lang Y, Bakkers MJG, et al. Human coronaviruses OC43 and HKU1 bind to 9-O-acetylated sialic acids via a conserved receptor-binding site in spike protein domain A. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2019;116(7):2681-2690. doi:10.1073/pnas.1809667116
- Pyrc K, Berkhout B, van der Hoek L. The novel human coronaviruses NL63 and HKU1. J Virol. 2007;81(7):3051-3057. doi:10.1128/jvi.01466-06
- New images of novel coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 now available. NIAID Now.
 Published 2020. https://www.niaid.nih.gov/news-events/novel-coronavirussarscov2-images
- 54. Wang Q, Zhang Y, Wu L, et al. Structural and functional basis of SARS-CoV-2 entry by using human ACE2. *Cell*. 2020;181(4):894-904.e9.

- Srivastava S, Banu S, Singh P, Sowpati DT, Mishra RK. SARS-CoV-2 genomics: An Indian perspective on sequencing viral variants. *J Biosci*. 2021;46(1). doi:10.1007/s12038-021-00145-7
- Shang J, Wan Y, Luo C, et al. Cell entry mechanisms of SARS-CoV-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2020;117(21):11727-11734. doi:10.1073/pnas.2003138117
- Johnson BA, Xie X, Bailey AL, et al. Loss of furin cleavage site attenuates SARS-CoV-2 pathogenesis. *Nature*. 2021;591(7849):293-299. doi:10.1038/s41586-021-03237-4
- Mahmoud IS, Jarrar YB, Alshaer W, Ismail S. SARS-CoV-2 entry in host cellsmultiple targets for treatment and prevention. *Biochimie*. 2020;175(January):93-98. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2020.05.012
- Strope JD, PharmD CHC, Figg WD. TMPRSS2: Potential Biomarker for COVID-19 Outcomes. *J Clin Pharmacol*. 2020;60(7):801-807. doi:10.1002/jcph.1641
- 60. Ghafouri-Fard S, Noroozi R, Omrani MD, et al. Angiotensin converting enzyme: A review on expression profile and its association with human disorders with special focus on SARS-CoV-2 infection. *Vascul Pharmacol*. 2020;130(January):106680-106688. doi:10.1016/j.vph.2020.106680
- 61. Yoshimoto FK. The proteins of severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS CoV-2 or n-COV19), the cause of COVID-19. *Protein J.* 2020;39(3):198-216. doi:10.1007/s10930-020-09901-4

- Garoff H, Hewson R, Opstelten D-JE. Virus maturation by budding. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.* 1998;62(4):1171-1190. doi:10.1128/mmbr.62.4.1171-1190.1998
- Samavati L, Uhal BD. ACE2, much more than just a receptor for SARS-COV-2.
 Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10(June):1-9. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2020.00317
- 64. Fyhrquist F, Saijonmaa O. Renin-angiotensin system revisited. *J Intern Med*.
 2008;264(3):224-236. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2796.2008.01981.x
- Tigerstedt R, Bergman PQ. Niere und kreislauf. *Skand Arch Physiol*.
 1898;8(1):223-271. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.1898.tb00272.x
- Peach MJ. Renin-angiotensin system: biochemistry and mechanisms of action.
 Physiol Rev. 1977;57(2):313-370.
- 67. Paz Ocaranza M, Riquelme JA, García L, et al. Counter-regulatory renin– angiotensin system in cardiovascular disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol*. 2020;17(2):116-129. doi:10.1038/s41569-019-0244-8
- Te Riet L, Van Esch JHM, Roks AJM, Van Den Meiracker AH, Danser AHJ. Hypertension: renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system alterations. *Circ Res*. 2015;116(6):960-975. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.303587
- 69. Conti S, Cassis P, Benigni A. Aging and the renin-angiotensin system. *Hypertension*. 2012;60(4):878-883.
 doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.155895
- 70. Shen XZ, Xiao HD, Li P, Lin CX, Fuchs S, Bernstein KE. Tissue specific expression of angiotensin converting enzyme: A new way to study an old friend.

Int Immunopharmacol. 2008;8(2):171-176. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2007.08.010

- Matsusaka T, Niimura F, Shimizu A, et al. Liver angiotensinogen is the primary source of renal angiotensin II. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2012;23(7):1181-1189.
 doi:10.1681/ASN.2011121159
- 72. Stornetta RL, Hawelu-johnson CL, Guyenet PG, et al. Astrocytes synthesize angiotensinogen in brain. *Science* (80-). 1988;242(4884):1444-1446.
- 73. Campbell DJ, Habener JF. Angiotensinogen gene is expressed and differentially regulated in multiple tissues of the rat. *J Clin Invest*. 1986;78(1):31-39. doi:10.1172/JCI112566
- 74. Danser AHJ, Deinum J. Renin, prorenin and the putative (Pro)renin receptor.
 Hypertension. 2005;46(5):1069-1076. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000186329.92187.2e
- Warner FJ, Lew RA, Smith AI, Lambert DW, Hooper NM, Turner AJ.
 Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), but not ACE, is preferentially localized to the apical surface of polarized kidney cells. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(47):39353-39362. doi:10.1074/jbc.M508914200
- Anguiano L, Riera M, Pascual J, Soler MJ. Circulating ACE2 in cardiovascular and kidney diseases. *Curr Med Chem*. 2017;24(30). doi:10.2174/0929867324666170414162841
- Devaux CA, Rolain JM, Raoult D. ACE2 receptor polymorphism: Susceptibility to SARS-CoV-2, hypertension, multi-organ failure, and COVID-19 disease outcome. *J Microbiol Immunol Infect*. 2020;53(3):425-435. doi:10.1016/j.jmii.2020.04.015

- 78. Gao F, Zheng KI, Fan YC, Targher G, Byrne CD, Zheng MH. ACE2: A linkage for the interplay between COVID-19 and decompensated cirrhosis. *Am J Gastroenterol*. 2020;115(9):1544-1545. doi:10.14309/ajg.000000000000780
- 79. Swärd P, Edsfeldt A, Reepalu A, Jehpsson L, Rosengren BE, Karlsson MK. Age and sex differences in soluble ACE2 may give insights for COVID-19. *Crit Care*. 2020;24(1):4-6. doi:10.1186/s13054-020-02942-2
- Xudong X, Junzhu C, Xingxiang W, Furong Z, Yanrong L. Age- and genderrelated difference of ACE2 expression in rat lung. *Life Sci.* 2006;78(19):2166-2171. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2005.09.038
- 81. Yang CW, Lu LC, Chang CC, et al. Imbalanced plasma ace and ace2 level in the uremic patients with cardiovascular diseases and its change during a single hemodialysis session. *Ren Fail*. 2017;39(1):719-728. doi:10.1080/0886022X.2017.1398665
- Rodgers K, Verco S, Bolton L, Dizerega G. Accelerated healing of diabetic wounds by NorLeu3-angiotensin (1-7). *Expert Opin Investig Drugs*. 2011;20(11):1575-1581. doi:10.1517/13543784.2011.619976
- 83. Melaku L. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 and its potential protective effect upon heart. *Arch Med Heal Sci.* 2018;6(2):238. doi:10.4103/amhs.amhs_44_17
- 84. Zipeto D, Palmeira J da F, Argañaraz GA, Argañaraz ER.
 ACE2/ADAM17/TMPRSS2 interplay may be the main risk factor for COVID-19. *Front Immunol.* 2020;11(October):1-10. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.576745

- Xu J, Fan J, Wu F, et al. The ACE2/angiotensin-(1-7)/Mas receptor axis:
 Pleiotropic roles in cancer. *Front Physiol*. 2017;8(May):1-8.
 doi:10.3389/fphys.2017.00276
- Zhang X, Zhang X, Li S, Niu S. ACE2 and COVID-19 and the resulting ARDS.
 Postgrad Med J. Published online 2020:403-407. doi:10.1136/postgradmedj-2020-137935
- Poortmans PM, Guarneri V, Cardoso MJ. Cancer and COVID-19: what do we really know? *Lancet*. 2020;395(10241):1884-1885. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31240-X
- Ojo AS, Balogun SA, Williams OT, Ojo OS. Pulmonary fibrosis in COVID-19 survivors: Predictive factors and risk reduction strategies. *Pulm Med.* 2020;2020. doi:10.1155/2020/6175964
- Patel SK, Juno JA, Lee WS, et al. Plasma ACE2 activity is persistently elevated following SARS-CoV-2 infection: implications for COVID-19 pathogenesis and consequences. *Eur Respir J*. Published online January 21, 2021:2003730. doi:10.1183/13993003.03730-2020
- 2 (ACE2) activity are 17β-oestradiol-dependent and sex chromosome-independent. *Biol Sex Differ*. 2010;1(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/2042-6410-1-6
- 91. Kritas SK, Ronconi G, Caraffa A, Gallenga CE, Ross R, Conti P. Mast cells contribute to coronavirus-induced inflammation: New anti-inflammatory strategy. *J Biol Regul Homeost Agents*. 2020;34(1):9-14. doi:10.23812/20-Editorial-Kritas

- 92. Nagy B, Fejes Z, Szentkereszty Z, et al. A dramatic rise in serum ACE2 activity in a critically ill COVID-19 patient. *Int J Infect Dis*. 2021;103:412-414. doi:10.1016/j.ijid.2020.11.184
- 93. Oudit GY, Kassiri Z, Jiang C, et al. SARS-coronavirus modulation of myocardial ACE2 expression and inflammation in patients with SARS. *Eur J Clin Invest*. 2009;39(7):618-625. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2362.2009.02153.x
- 94. Calcagnile M, Forgez P, Iannelli A, Bucci C, Alifano M, Alifano P. Molecular docking simulation reveals ACE2 polymorphisms that may increase the affinity of ACE2 with the SARS-CoV-2 Spike protein. *Biochimie*. 2021;180(January):143-148. doi:10.1016/j.biochi.2020.11.004
- 25. Liu T, Zhang L, Joo D, Sun S-C. NF-κB signaling in inflammation. *Signal Transduct Target Ther*. 2017;2(1):17023-17031. doi:10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23
- 96. O'Connor W, Kamanaka M, Booth CJ, et al. A protective function for interleukin
 17A in T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. *Nat Immunol.* 2009;10(6):603609. doi:10.1038/ni.1736
- 97. Gaddam RR, Chambers S, Bhatia M. ACE and ACE2 in inflammation: A tale of two enzymes. *Inflamm Allergy Drug Targets*. 2014;13(4):224-234. doi:10.2174/1871528113666140713164506
- 98. Tham DM, Martin-McNulty B, Wang YX, et al. Angiotensin II is associated with activation of NF-κB-mediated genes and downregulation of PPARs. *Physiol Genomics*. 2003;11:21-30. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00062.2002
- 99. Schmeisser A, Soehnlein O, Illmer T, et al. ACE inhibition lowers angiotensin IIinduced chemokine expression by reduction of NF-κB activity and AT1 receptor expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2004;325(2):532-540. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.10.059
- 100. Bush RK. Mechanism and epidemiology of laboratory animal allergy. *ILAR J*.2001;42(1):4-11. doi:10.1093/ilar.42.1.4
- 101. Dandona P, Dhindsa S, Ghanim H, Chaudhuri A. Angiotensin II and inflammation: The effect of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition and angiotensin II receptor blockade. *J Hum Hypertens*. 2007;21(1):20-27. doi:10.1038/sj.jhh.1002101
- 102. Tian S, Xiong Y, Liu H, et al. Pathological study of the 2019 novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) through postmortem core biopsies. *Mod Pathol.* 2020;33(6):1007-1014. doi:10.1038/s41379-020-0536-x
- 103. Merad M, Martin JC. Pathological inflammation in patients with COVID-19: a key role for monocytes and macrophages. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2020;20(6):355-362. doi:10.1038/s41577-020-0331-4
- 104. Xu B, Fan C yu, Wang A lu, et al. Suppressed T cell-mediated immunity in patients with COVID-19: A clinical retrospective study in Wuhan, China. *J Infect*. 2020;81(1):e51-e60. doi:10.1016/j.jinf.2020.04.012
- 105. Ackermann M, Verleden SE, Kuehnel M, et al. Pulmonary vascular endothelialitis, thrombosis, and angiogenesis in covid-19. *N Engl J Med.* 2020;383(2):120-128. doi:10.1056/nejmoa2015432

- Santoriello D, Khairallah P, Bomback AS, et al. Postmortem kidney pathology findings in patients with COVID-19. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2020;31(9):2158-2167. doi:10.1681/ASN.2020050744
- 107. Imai Y, Kuba K, Rao S, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 protects from severe acute lung failure. *Nature*. 2005;436(7047):112-116. doi:10.1038/nature03712
- 108. Lin CI, Tsai CH, Sun YL, et al. Instillation of particulate matter 2.5 induced acute lung injury and attenuated the injury recovery in ACE2 knockout mice. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2018;14(3):253-265. doi:10.7150/ijbs.23489
- Hung YH, Hsieh WY, Hsieh JS, et al. Alternative roles of STAT3 and MAPK signaling pathways in the MMPs activation and progression of lung injury induced by cigarette smoke exposure in ACE2 knockout mice. *Int J Biol Sci.* 2016;12(4):454-465. doi:10.7150/ijbs.13379
- 110. Imai Y, Kuba K, Ohto-Nakanishi T, Penninger JM. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in disease pathogenesis. *Circ J*. 2010;74(3):405-410. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-10-0045
- 111. Sodhi CP, Wohlford-Lenane C, Yamaguchi Y, et al. Attenuation of pulmonary ACE2 activity impairs inactivation of des-arg9 bradykinin/BKB1R axis and facilitates LPS-induced neutrophil infiltration. *Am J Physiol - Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2018;314(1):L17-L31. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00498.2016
- Zoufaly A, Poglitsch M, Aberle JH, et al. Human recombinant soluble ACE2 in severe COVID-19. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2020;8(11):1154-1158.

doi:10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30418-5

- 113. Bourgonje AR, Abdulle AE, Timens W, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2), SARS-CoV-2 and the pathophysiology of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *J Pathol.* 2020;251(3):228-248. doi:10.1002/path.5471
- Shenoy V, Qi Y, Katovich MJ, Raizada MK. ACE2, a promising therapeutic target for pulmonary hypertension. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*. 2011;11(2):150-155. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2010.12.002
- 115. Gan R, Rosoman NP, Henshaw DJE, Noble EP, Georgius P, Sommerfeld N.
 COVID-19 as a viral functional ACE2 deficiency disorder with ACE2 related multi-organ disease. *Med Hypotheses*. 2020;144(June):110024-110030.
 doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110024
- 116. Porfidia A, Valeriani E, Pola R, Porreca E, Rutjes AWS, Di Nisio M. Venous thromboembolism in patients with COVID-19: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thromb Res.* 2020;196(August):67-74.
 doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2020.08.020
- 117. Ciceri F, Beretta L, Scandroglio AM, et al. Microvascular COVID-19 lung vessels obstructive thromboinflammatory syndrome (MicroCLOTS): an atypical acute respiratory distress syndrome working hypothesis. *Crit Care Resusc.* Published online 2020:2-4. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32294809
- 118. George PM, Wells AU, Jenkins RG. Pulmonary fibrosis and COVID-19: the potential role for antifibrotic therapy. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2020;8(8):807-815. doi:10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30225-3

- 119. Spagnolo P, Balestro E, Aliberti S, et al. Pulmonary fibrosis secondary to COVID19: a call to arms? *Lancet Respir Med*. 2020;8(8):750-752. doi:10.1016/S22132600(20)30222-8
- Schwensen HF, Borreschmidt LK, Storgaard M, Redsted S, Christensen S, Madsen LB. Fatal pulmonary fibrosis: A post-COVID-19 autopsy case. *J Clin Pathol*.
 Published online 2020:1-3. doi:10.1136/jclinpath-2020-206879
- 121. Deshmukh V, Motwani R, Kumar A, Kumari C, Raza K. Histopathological observations in COVID-19: A systematic review. *J Clin Pathol*. 2021;74(2):76-83. doi:10.1136/jclinpath-2020-206995
- 122. Wysocki J, Ortiz-Melo DI, Mattocks NK, et al. ACE2 deficiency increases
 NADPH-mediated oxidative stress in the kidney. *Physiol Rep.* 2014;2(3):1-12.
 doi:10.1002/phy2.264
- Fang F, Liu GC, Zhou X, et al. Loss of ACE2 exacerbates murine renal ischemiareperfusion injury. Fu J, ed. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(8):e71433. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071433
- 124. Zhong J, Guo D, Chen CB, et al. Prevention of angiotensin II-mediated renal oxidative stress, inflammation, and fibrosis by angiotensin-converting enzyme 2. *Hypertension*. 2011;57(2):314-322.

doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.110.164244

125. Dilauro M, Zimpelmann J, Robertson SJ, Genest D, Burns KD. Effect of ACE2 and angiotensin-(1-7) in a mouse model of early chronic kidney disease. *Am J Physiol - Ren Physiol*. 2010;298(6):1523-1532. doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00426.2009

- Mizuiri S. ACE and ACE2 in kidney disease. World J Nephrol. 2015;4(1):74-82. doi:10.5527/wjn.v4.i1.74
- 127. Gabarre P, Dumas G, Dupont T, Darmon M, Azoulay E, Zafrani L. Acute kidney injury in critically ill patients with COVID-19. *Intensive Care Med*. 2020;46(7):1339-1348. doi:10.1007/s00134-020-06153-9
- 128. Wysocki J, Ye M, Hassler L, et al. A novel soluble ACE2 variant with prolonged duration of action neutralizes SARS-CoV-2 infection in human kidney organoids. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2021;32(4):795-803. doi:10.1681/asn.2020101537
- Oudit GY, Liu GC, Zhong JC, et al. Human recombinant ACE2 reduces the progression of diabetic nephropathy. *Diabetes*. 2010;59(2):529-538. doi:10.2337/db09-1218
- 130. Sardu C, Gambardella J, Morelli MB, Wang X, Marfella R, Santulli G.
 Hypertension, thrombosis, kidney failure, and diabetes: Is COVID-19 an
 endothelial disease? A comprehensive evaluation of clinical and basic evidence. J
 Clin Med. 2020;9(5):1417. doi:10.3390/jcm9051417
- 131. Chodavarapu H, Grobe N, Somineni HK, Salem ESB, Madhu M, Elased KM.
 Rosiglitazone treatment of type 2 diabetic db/db mice attenuates urinary albumin and angiotensin converting enzyme 2 excretion. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(4).
 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0062833
- 132. Batlle D, Soler MJ, Sparks MA, et al. Acute kidney injury in COVID-19: emerging evidence of a distinct pathophysiology. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2020;31(7):1380-1383. doi:10.1681/ASN.2020040419

- 133. Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, et al. Kidney disease is associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19. *Kidney Int*. 2020;97(5):829-838.
 doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.03.005
- 134. Wang M, Xiong H, Chen H, Li Q, Ruan XZ. Renal injury by SARS-CoV-2 infection: A systematic review. *Kidney Dis*. Published online 2020:1-11. doi:10.1159/000512683
- 135. Alghamri MS, Weir NM, Anstadt MP, Elased KM, Gurley SB, Morris M. Enhanced angiotensin II-induced cardiac and aortic remodeling in ACE2 knockout mice. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther*. 2013;18(2):138-151. doi:10.1177/1074248412460124
- Gallagher PE, Ferrario CM, Tallant EA. Regulation of ACE2 in cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts. *Am J Physiol - Hear Circ Physiol*. 2008;295(6):2373-2379. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00426.2008
- 137. Patel VB, Zhong JC, Grant MB, Oudit GY. Role of the ACE2/angiotensin 1-7 axis of the renin-angiotensin system in heart failure. *Circ Res.* 2016;118(8):1313-1326. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.307708
- 138. Kumar A, Narayan RK, Kumari C, et al. SARS-CoV-2 cell entry receptor ACE2 mediated endothelial dysfunction leads to vascular thrombosis in COVID-19 patients. *Med Hypotheses*. 2020;145(January):110320-110324. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2020.110320
- 139. Burrell LM, Johnston CI, Tikellis C, Cooper ME. ACE2, a new regulator of the renin-angiotensin system. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*. 2004;15(4):166-169.

doi:10.1016/j.tem.2004.03.001

- 140. Wang J, He W, Guo L, et al. The ACE2-Ang (1–7)-Mas receptor axis attenuates cardiac remodeling and fibrosis in post-myocardial infarction. *Mol Med Rep*. 2017;16(2):1973-1981. doi:10.3892/mmr.2017.6848
- 141. Puntmann VO, Carerj ML, Wieters I, et al. Outcomes of cardiovascular magnetic resonance imaging in patients recently recovered from coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *JAMA Cardiol*. 2020;5(11):1265-1273. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2020.3557
- 142. Lindner D, Fitzek A, Bräuninger H, et al. Association of cardiac infection with SARS-CoV-2 in confirmed COVID-19 autopsy cases. *JAMA Cardiol*. 2020;5(11):1281-1285. doi:10.1001/jamacardio.2020.3551
- 143. Zheng YY, Ma YT, Zhang JY, Xie X. COVID-19 and the cardiovascular system. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2020;17(5):259-260. doi:10.1038/s41569-020-0360-5
- 144. Hoffman MM, Monroe DM. Rethinking the coagulation cascade. *Curr Hematol Rep.* 2005;4(5):391-396. doi:10.2491/jjsth.16.70
- 145. Chambers RC, Scotton CJ. Coagulation cascade proteinases in lung injury and fibrosis. *Proc Am Thorac Soc*. 2012;9(3):96-101. doi:10.1513/pats.201201-006AW
- 146. Overbey DM, Jones EL, Robinson TN. How hemostatic agents interact with the coagulation cascade. *AORN J*. 2014;100(2):148-159.
 doi:10.1016/j.aorn.2013.12.012

- 147. Fufa D, Shealy B, Jacobson M, Kevy S, Murray MM. Activation of platelet-rich plasma using soluble type I collagen. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2008;66(4):684-690. doi:10.1016/j.joms.2007.06.635
- 148. Owens AP, Mackman N. Tissue factor and thrombosis: The clot starts here. *Thromb Haemost*. 2010;104(09):432-439. doi:10.1160/TH09-11-0771
- Vassalli J-D, Sappino A-P, Belin D. The plasminogen activator/plasmin system. J Clin Invest. 1991;88(October):1067-1072.
- 150. Fraga-Silva RA, Sorg BS, Wankhede M, et al. ACE2 activation promotes antithrombotic activity. *Mol Med*. 2010;16(5-6):210-215. doi:10.2119/molmed.2009.00160
- 151. Goldhaber SZ, Morrison RB. Pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis. *Circulation*. 2002;106(12):1436-1438. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000031167.64088.F6
- 152. Wanless IR, Liu JJ, Butany J. Role of thrombosis in the pathogenesis of congestive hepatic fibrosis (cardiac cirrhosis). *Hepatology*. 1995;21(5):1232-1237. doi:10.1016/0270-9139(95)90042-X
- 153. Xiao H-L, Li C-S, Zhao L-X, et al. Captopril improves postresuscitation hemodynamics protective against pulmonary embolism by activating the ACE2/Ang-(1-7)/Mas axis. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol*. 2016;389(11):1159-1169. doi:10.1007/s00210-016-1278-7
- 154. Hardenberg JHB, Luft FC. Covid-19, ACE2 and the kidney. *Acta Physiol*.2020;230(1):e13539. doi:10.1111/apha.13539

- 155. Gue YX, Gorog DA. Reduction in ACE2 may mediate the prothrombotic phenotype in COVID-19. *Eur Heart J*. 2020;41(33):3198-3199.
 doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehaa534
- 156. Hirsch JS, Ng JH, Ross DW, et al. Acute kidney injury in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. *Kidney Int*. 2020;98(1):209-218. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.05.006
- 157. Driggin E, Madhavan M V, Bikdeli B, Chuich T, Harm PD. Cardiovascular considerations for patients, health care workers, and health systems during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2020;75(January):2352-2371.
- 158. Wynn T. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of fibrosis. *J Pathol.* 2008;214(2):199-210. doi:10.1002/path.2277
- Mak KY, Chin R, Cunningham SC, et al. ACE2 therapy using adeno-associated viral vector inhibits liver fibrosis in mice. *Mol Ther*. 2015;23(9):1434-1443. doi:10.1038/mt.2015.92
- 160. Enomoto N, Suda T, Kono M, et al. Amount of elastic fibers predicts prognosis of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Respir Med.* 2013;107(10):1608-1616.
 doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2013.08.008
- 161. Baues M, Dasgupta A, Ehling J, et al. Fibrosis imaging: Current concepts and future directions. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2017;121(November):9-26. doi:10.1016/j.addr.2017.10.013
- 162. Lassenius MI, Toppila I, Pöntynen N, et al. Forced vital capacity (FVC) decline,

mortality and healthcare resource utilization in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Eur Clin Respir J*. 2020;7(1). doi:10.1080/20018525.2019.1702618

- 163. Fernandez IE, Eickelberg O. New cellular and molecular mechanisms of lung injury and fi brosis in idiopathic pulmonary fi brosis. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9842):680-688. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61144-1
- 164. Pache JC, Christakos PG, Gannon DE, Mitchell JJ, Low RB, Leslie KO.
 Myofibroblasts in diffuse alveolar damage of the lung. *Mod Pathol*.
 1998;11(11):1064-1070. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9831203
- 165. Mineo G, Ciccarese F, Modolon C, Landini MP, Valentino M, Zompatori M. Fibrosi polmonare post-ARDS in pazienti con polmonite da H1N1: Ruolo della TC nel follow-up. *Radiol Medica*. 2012;117(2):185-200. doi:10.1007/s11547-011-0740-3
- 166. Oh CK, Murray LA, Molfino NA. Smoking and idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *Pulm Med.* 2012;2012:1-13. doi:10.1155/2012/808260
- 167. Maher TM, Strek ME. Antifibrotic therapy for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis: time to treat. *Respir Res*. 2019;20(1):205. doi:10.1186/s12931-019-1161-4
- 168. Reddy M, Fonseca L, Gowda S, Chougule B, Hari A, Totey S. Human adiposederived mesenchymal stem cells attenuate early stage of bleomycin induced pulmonary fibrosis: Comparison with pirfenidone. *Int J Stem Cells*. 2016;9(2):192-206. doi:10.15283/ijsc16041
- 169. Wong DW, Oudit GY, Reich H, et al. Loss of angiotensin-converting enzyme-2

(Ace2) accelerates diabetic kidney injury. *Am J Pathol*. 2007;171(2):438-451. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.060977

- 170. Reich HN, Oudit GY, Penninger JM, Scholey JW, Herzenberg AM. Decreased glomerular and tubular expression of ACE2 in patients with type 2 diabetes and kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* 2008;74(12):1610-1616. doi:10.1038/ki.2008.497
- 171. Li X, Molina-Molina M, Abdul-Hafez A, Uhal V, Xaubet A, Uhal BD.
 Angiotensin converting enzyme-2 is protective but downregulated in human and experimental lung fibrosis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*.
 2008;295(1):178-185. doi:10.1152/ajplung.00009.2008
- 172. Crackower MA, Sarao R, Oliveira-dos-Santos AJ, Da Costa J, Zhang L.
 Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 is an essential regulator of heart function.
 Nature. 2002;417(6891):822-828. doi:10.1038/nature00786
- 173. Danilczyk U, Penninger JM. Angiotensin-converting enzyme II in the heart and the kidney. *Circ Res.* 2006;98(4):463-471. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000205761.22353.5f
- 174. Velkoska E, Patel SK, Griggs K, Pickering RJ, Tikellis C, Burrell LM. Short-term treatment with diminazene aceturate ameliorates the reduction in kidney ACE2 activity in rats with subtotal nephrectomy. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(3):1-12. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0118758
- Rodríguez-Puertas R. ACE2 activators for the treatment of COVID 19 patients. J Med Virol. 2020;published.

- 176. Bloch MJ. Renin-angiotensin system blockade in COVID-19 good, bad, or indifferent? *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2020;76(3):277-279. doi:10.1155/2010/706872
- 177. Morales DR, Conover MM, You SC, et al. Renin–angiotensin system blockers and susceptibility to COVID-19: an international, open science, cohort analysis. *Lancet Digit Heal*. 2021;3(2):e98-e114. doi:10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30289-2
- 178. de Abajo FJ. Renin–angiotensin system inhibitors and COVID-19: overwhelming evidence against an association. *Lancet Digit Heal*. 2021;3(2):e70-e71. doi:10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30294-6
- Hippisley-Cox J, Young D, Coupland C, et al. Risk of severe COVID-19 disease with ACE inhibitors and angiotensin receptor blockers: Cohort study including 8.3 million people. *Heart*. 2020;106(19):1503-1511. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2020-317393
- 180. Paulis L, Rajkovicova R, Simko F. New developments in the pharmacological treatment of hypertension: Dead-end or a glimmer at the horizon? *Curr Hypertens Rep.* 2015;17(6). doi:10.1007/s11906-015-0557-x
- 181. Haschke M, Schuster M, Poglitsch M, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of recombinant human angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 in healthy human subjects. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2013;52(9):783-792. doi:10.1007/s40262-013-0072-7
- 182. Abd El-Aziz TM, Al-Sabi A, Stockand JD. Human recombinant soluble ACE2 (hrsACE2) shows promise for treating severe COVID-19. *Signal Transduct Target Ther*. 2020;5(1):3-4. doi:10.1038/s41392-020-00374-6

- Alhenc-Gelas F, Drueke TB. Blockade of SARS-CoV-2 infection by recombinant soluble ACE2. *Kidney Int.* 2020;97(6):1091-1093. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.04.009
- Palau V, Riera M, Soler MJ. ADAM17 inhibition may exert a protective effect on COVID-19. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2020;35(6):1071-1072. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfaa093
- 185. Ragia G, Manolopoulos VG. Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 entry through the ACE2/TMPRSS2 pathway: a promising approach for uncovering early COVID-19 drug therapies. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2020;76(12):1623-1630. doi:10.1007/s00228-020-02963-4